# **INFORMATION TO USERS**

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600





# University of Alberta

Hope and its Relationship to the Working Alliance and Self-Criticism in Counselling

by

Kelti Rae Michelle Barsan



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of Master of Education

in

Counselling Psychology

Department of Educational Psychology

Edmonton, Alberta

Fall 2005



Library and Archives Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

Direction du

Patrimoine de l'édition

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: Our file Notre reterence

ISBN:

#### NOTICE:

The author has granted a non-exclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or non-commercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

#### AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



#### Abstract

Although, hope and the therapeutic alliance, two factors common to all types of therapy, have been found to have a positive effect on counselling outcome, their relationship to each other has not been extensively studied. In addition, while client self-criticism is reported to have a negative impact on the therapeutic alliance, its relationship to hope is unknown. The purpose of the study was to describe the relationship of client reports of hope to the working alliance and self-criticism. Participants were 67 adults aged 18 and over, seeking individual counselling in a community counselling centre. The results indicate that while hope and the working alliance were not correlated, each increased significantly during counselling. As hope increased, psychological symptoms decreased. A strong negative correlation between hope and self-criticism was found. The results suggest that hope is important to both counselling process and outcome.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my gratitude to the many people who provided me support. I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Barbara Paulson for her support, enthusiasm toward the project and her challenging questions. I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Denise Larsen and Dr. Frank Peters for their insightful questions and comments. Thank you Denise for your feedback, encouragement and support. I would also like to thank Dr. William Whelton for the help and feedback provided at all of the stages of the research. Thank you to my mom, Nicu and the rest of my family and friends for their endless encouragement.

# Table of Contents

CHAPTER I	1
Introduction	1
Study Variables	2
Overview of the Study	7
CHAPTER II	8
Review of the Literature	8
Hope Literature	8
The Therapeutic Alliance in Counselling	21
Self-criticism	31
The Common Factors Model of Therapy	36
Hypotheses	39
Summary	40
CHAPTER III	41
Methodology	41
Participants	41
Instruments	44
Procedure	48
Statistical analysis	48
CHAPTER IV	50
Results	50
Hope During Counselling	50
Working Alliance During Counselling	51
Psychological Health	
Relationship Between Hope, the Alliance and Psychological Health	52
Self-criticism	55
Summary	56
CHAPTER V	58
Discussion	58
The Importance of Hope	58
The Working Alliance	61
Symptom Improvement	64
The Relationship Between Hope and the Alliance	65
Self-Criticism	66
Implications for Counselling Practice	67
Implications for Future Research and Study Limitations	69
Conclusion	
References	75
Appendix A	85
Annendix R	86

# List of Tables

Table	Page
Mean Scores on the Herth Hope Scale	51
Mean scores on the WAI	52
Intercorrelations Between the GHQ, HHS, and WAI at Session 1, Session 5 and	
Termination	54
Correlations Between Self-Criticism and the GHO, WAI, and HHS	56

#### CHAPTER I

#### Introduction

Although, it is now generally agreed that therapy is effective for the treatment of psychological difficulties, it is still not fully known which specific components of therapy lead to client improvement (Lambert, Garfield & Bergin, 2004). Because psychotherapy research shows that all types of psychotherapy are beneficial, it is likely that certain common elements of psychotherapy contribute to client improvement (Lambert et al., 2004; Luborsky et al., 2003; Sexton & Whiston, 1991). Examples of such components include the therapeutic relationship, therapist empathy, catharsis, and client variables. Three elements of therapy that have been reported to be particularly important to therapy success are hope (Edey & Jevne, 2003; Irving et al., 2004), the alliance (Horvath & Symonds, 1991; Kivlighan & Shaughnessy, 1995; Lambert, 1992; Luborsky, 1994; Martin et al., 2000), and the client's level of self-criticism or perfectionism (Blatt, Quinlan, Pilkonis, & Shea, 1995; Rector, Bagby, Segal, Joffe, & Levitt, 2000; Zuroff et al., 2000).

The purpose of this study is to explore the relationship of hope to the therapeutic alliance and self-criticism in order to better understand the roles of these three variables in counselling. Due to mounting evidence in the literature of the prominence of these three variables in the therapeutic process, it was reasoned that an understanding of the relationship among these variables, might facilitate an understanding of their influence on the therapeutic process. While hope and the therapeutic alliance have been studied separately, their relationship to one another within the counselling context has not been thoroughly investigated. Both hope and the therapeutic alliance appear to contribute to

counselling outcome, yet it is unknown whether hope and the alliance contribute independently to the counselling process and treatment outcome, or whether the presence of one inspires an increase in the other. By identifying the relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance the present study seeks to further clarify whether hope increases during counselling and whether a relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance exists. Although, self-criticism has been found to negatively impact treatment success (Blatt et al., 1995; Rector et al., 2000), its relationship to hope is unclear. A better understanding of the relationship of hope to self-criticism and the therapeutic alliance may increase our understanding of the counselling process and of the variables themselves.

## Study Variables

Hope is emerging in the literature as an important element of counselling (Snyder, Michael, & Cheavens, 1999; Snyder, Feldman, Taylor, Schroeder, & Adams, 2000; Edey & Jevne, 2003; Irving et al., 2004) even if it is not discussed explicitly (Helm, 2004). It has also been proposed as a dynamic element that is common in all therapies (Snyder et al., 1999). Although, hope may seem to be universally felt and understood, providing a concrete description of hope is not easy, and in fact, several definitions are provided within the literature.

According to Snyder et al. (1991), hope consists of the ability to develop goals, the ability to develop viable paths toward one's goals, and the sense of agency that one is able to achieve the specified goals. Meanwhile, Farran, Herth and Popovich (1995) describe hope as consisting of an experiential component, a spiritual component, a relational component, alongside a rational thought process that leads hope to be based in

reality. Farran et al. (1995) also differentiate hope from wishing and optimism. They state that wishing and optimism are based on more specific goals than hope, are based only on positive goals, do not allow for painful feelings, and the goals are less likely to be attained. In other words, wishing and optimism are not always based in reality and the goals of wishing and optimism are less flexible than goals arising from hope. While goals are a main component in the hope definitions of both Snyder et al. (1991) and Farran et al. (1995), the presence of explicit goals play a lesser role in the definition of hope of Dufault and Martocchio (1985).

Dufault and Martocchio (1985) conceptualize hope as existing within contextual, affective, cognitive, behavioural, affiliative and temporal dimensions, with goals being either explicit or implicit. This view of hope acknowledges its presence in many aspects of our daily lives. Dufault and Martocchio (1985) contend that hope in one dimension may influence one's level of hope in other dimensions. It follows from this view of hope that therapy could influence a client's hope at a number of different levels within any theoretical orientation of psychotherapy.

While definitions of hope vary within the literature, all definitions conceptualise hope in a manner that suggests hope may be an important element of psychotherapy. In support of hope being an element common to all types of therapy, Snyder et al. (2002) contend that various techniques and psychotherapy processes from the beginning stages of therapy onward lead to increased hope. Snyder, Feldman, Taylor, Schroeder and Adams (2000) reason that hope increases when goals are attained and counselling increases hope because it increases the ability to pursue goals. Goals, agency and the development of paths toward the goals are addressed by many types of therapy, which

supports the view that these components of hope are common to most, if not all, forms of therapy. Thus, therapy may be beneficial in part due to processes or techniques that increase a client's hope.

Of the aforementioned therapeutic components common to all types of therapy, the therapeutic alliance has been studied the most extensively. The therapeutic alliance was conceptualised by Bordin (1979) as including three main components: agreement on the tasks of therapy, agreement on the goals of therapy, and the bond between therapist and client. In essence, the alliance entails the collaboration between the therapist and client and the relationship that evolves from this partnership. Several studies have shown a positive alliance to be predictive of therapeutic outcome (Barber, Connolly, Crits-Christoph, Gladis & Siqueland, 2000; Blatt, Zuroff, Quinlan, & Pilkonis, 1996) and it has been said to account for thirty percent of therapeutic outcome (Lambert, 1992). Because the alliance is an important determinant of both therapeutic outcome and whether clients remain in treatment, an emphasis on collaborating with clients rather than directing them has evolved in many types of therapy, including those that were traditionally more directive and therapist-led (Lambert et al., 2004).

Though both hope and the therapeutic alliance are described in the literature as effective elements that are common to all types of therapy, little research has been conducted to determine how these factors are related. The importance of goals and relationships are emphasised by the theoretical models of the working alliance and hope, which suggests that these two concepts may be related within counselling. Kraatz (2003) researched whether the therapeutic alliance was related to hope, depression and psychological distress prior to counselling and after six counselling sessions. Although,

Kraatz reported a significant increase in hope after six counselling sessions, this increase was not significantly related to changes in the other variables, including the therapeutic alliance. Kraatz also found that the alliance did not predict treatment outcome, which contradicts the results of other previously mentioned studies on the therapeutic alliance. The present study is similar to that of Kraatz; however, attempts were made to address some of the limitations present in the study of Kraatz, which included measuring the alliance only once during the course of counselling and limiting the data collection to a small number of counselling sessions.

Counselling clients' level of self-criticism has also been found to affect counselling processes. Self-criticism is negative thoughts or statements aimed at oneself. While it need not be detrimental, when self-criticism is severe it impacts relationships (Zuroff et al., 2000) and evaluations by others (Powers & Zuroff, 1988; Zuroff, 1994; Zuroff, Moskowitz, Wielgus, Powers, & Franko, 1983). For this reason, it is not surprising that it has been found to negatively affect counselling outcomes (Blatt et al., 1995; Rector et al., 2000; Zuroff et al., 2000). A concept related to self-criticism is perfectionism, which involves setting exceedingly high standards that are either difficult or impossible to attain. Because individuals who are perfectionistic are also often self-criticism. Prominent research by Zuroff et al. (2000) found that perfectionistic clients did not contribute to the alliance and with these clients the working alliance did not increase during counselling. This led to the clients having less positive therapeutic outcomes. Self-criticism, which is related to perfectionism, is likely also related to the working alliance. Although, studies exploring the relationship between hope and self-criticism were not

found, self-criticism has been reported to be related to hopelessness (Riley & McCranie, 1990).

Studying the helpful elements of counselling and different types of interventions is important because those treatments that are found to be beneficial for certain populations may become recommended practice, and thereby influence counsellor training (Shadish et al., 1997). Continued research on the beneficial elements of counselling may lead to improvements in counselling services, which would then lead to improved success rates. Although, research has shown that therapy is generally effective and the typical counselling client does improve, it has been noted by Westen and Morrison (2001) that outcome measures indicate clients are not completely symptom-free at the end of counselling. That is, research participants seeking counselling do not necessarily return to the health status of the non-disordered population and follow-up indicates that many participants seek further treatment, suggesting that initial treatment improvement does not remain. Thus, a better understanding of counselling processes is required in order to improve success rates.

The present research is descriptive in nature, and will address the following questions:

- 1. Does hope increase during the course of counselling?
- 2. Does a relationship exist between a counselling client's level of hope and the client's rating of the therapeutic alliance?
- 3. Does the relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance change when the influence of a client's pre- or post-therapy level of distress is removed?
- 4. Is clients' level of hope related to their level of psychological distress?

- 5. Is the therapeutic alliance related to a client's level of psychological distress?
- 6. Is there a relationship between self-criticism and hope?
- 7. Is there a relationship between self-criticism and the working alliance?

# Overview of the Study

Chapter Two will address the research literature on hope, the therapeutic alliance, self-criticism and the common factors model of psychotherapy. It will further investigate the theoretical support that underlies the relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance. A description of the study methodology will be presented in Chapter Three, while in Chapter Four the results of the statistical analysis will be described. The study results are further discussed in Chapter Five, as are the implications of the findings and the limitations of the study.

#### CHAPTER II

#### Review of the Literature

While the relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance has received little attention, certain aspects of research in these areas suggest that hope and the alliance are related within the counselling context. Both hope and the alliance appear to be important to the counselling process, as both have been related to treatment outcome (e.g. Irving et al., 2004; Luborsky, 1994); however, their relationship to one another remains unclear. Because self-criticism and the related concept of perfectionism have been reported to affect counselling outcomes (Blatt et al., 1995; Rector et al., 2000; Zuroff et al., 2000), an exploration of the relationship of self-criticism to other important counselling variables may lead to a greater understanding of its influence on counselling processes. The literature review will describe previous research involving the three study variables, much of which indicates that hope, the working alliance and self-criticism are important elements of counselling. Prior to an exploration of the theoretical generalizations that support the likelihood of a relationship between hope and the alliance, the theories and supporting research behind hope and the therapeutic alliance will be discussed. The literature on self-criticism within counselling and the related concept of perfectionism will also be reviewed to provide the basis for exploring its relationship to hope and the working alliance.

### Hope Literature

Although hope has not always been accepted as a curative factor by the medical community, in 1959, when Karl Menninger addressed the American Psychiatric

Association on the topic of hope he proposed that it was an important healing element in the practice of medicine. Menninger described hope as an aspect of the Freudian concept of the life instinct, which is a life sustaining function, and as a process that involves a future-oriented search. To illustrate the importance of hope to health, Menninger asked his audience to recall one or more medical cases in which the doctor thought there was little hope, but the patient recovered. The implication was that hope might play a role in such unexplained recoveries. Menninger's influential address provided a conceptual framework that continues to be a foundation for several theories of hope, including those described by Dufault and Martocchio (1985), Edey and Jevne (2003), Farran et al. (1995) and Snyder et al. (1991). Throughout his address, Menninger described ideas that appeared later in many theories of hope, including hope being a possible explanation for the placebo effect, hope inspiring more hope, and the importance of hope existing not just within a patient, but also within the patient's doctors, family members and other caregivers.

## Theories of hope.

Since Menninger's 1959 address, the importance of hope to well-being has been expanded and at present several theories of hope exist that can contribute to an understanding of the counselling process. Although, a multitude of definitions and models of hope exist, not all of the descriptions of hope are compatible with one another (Eliott & Olver, 2002). Nevertheless, the way in which hope is conceptualised affects clinical practice (Herth, 2005); for this reason, achieving a comprehensive understanding of hope would be valuable. Underlying many conceptualizations of hope are the common notions that because hope contributes to one's well-being its measurement is warranted,

that hope exists within individuals in varying amounts, and that this amount can be changed (Eliott & Olver). Among the many models of hope are those of Dufault and Martocchio (1985), Farran et al. (1995) and Snyder et al. (1991).

Snyder et al. (1991) conceptualise hope as consisting of three components: a goal, pathways to the goal, and a sense of agency that one is able to attain the goal. According to Snyder, if any of these components are missing, one will not be hopeful. For example, in addition to choosing a goal, one must also be able to envision ways to attain the goal and believe that one is in fact capable of attaining the goal, in order to be hopeful.

According to Snyder et al. (2000) hope is important in primary prevention; that is, hope can protect against psychological problems as it will lead to the attainment of goals, which in turn leads to higher self-esteem and confidence. These authors also contend that people with higher hope are more likely to prevent physical health problems by obtaining health knowledge and acting to promote health, based on their knowledge. Snyder et al. (2000) also explain that once a problem or stressor has arisen, a person with high hope can improve their situation more readily than a person with low hope, as their ability to develop paths toward a goal is greater. Snyder et al. (2000) assert that all systems of psychotherapy are helpful because the client learns more efficient goal attainment. It follows that not only does psychotherapy improve the client's ability to deal with their present situation, but it also improves this ability in the future. Thus, the increased hope from psychotherapy prevents future difficulties as well as assisting in present difficulties.

In addition to discussing the role of hope in preventing physical and psychological problems, Snyder et al. (2000) also discuss the role hope plays in enhancement, which they define as actions designed to attain desired physical and psychological outcomes.

They state that individuals with higher hope will undertake actions to maintain and improve their physical and psychological health. Thus, according to Snyder et al. (2000), the ability to learn and engage in goal-directed thinking, which in their terms is hopeful thinking, is essential to enhancing one's life, solving problems and preventing problems at both a physical and psychological level.

Of the many hope theories in existence, the most broadly defined theory was put forth by Dufault and Martocchio (1985). These authors theorize hope as consisting of two spheres, particularized and generalized, and each sphere as consisting of six dimensions: contextual, affective, cognitive, behavioural, affiliative and temporal. The sphere of generalized hope denotes hope that is future-oriented but toward an unknown, while the sphere of particularized hope includes specific hope objects or goals. These authors theorize that both spheres are necessary for one to remain hopeful because when one's particular hopes become unrealistic or unattainable, the presence of generalised hope allows one to maintain one's overall hope as all hope has not been lost.

The affective dimension of hope (Dufault & Martocchio, 1985) includes both feelings of confidence and of uncertainty toward a hope object in the case of particularized hope, and toward the future in the case of generalized hope. Dufault and Martocchio state the affective dimension is pervasive throughout the entire hoping process. Supportive of this dimension, is the proposition of Jevne (1993) that hopeful people tend to be more confident and have an elevated mood. The cognitive dimension of hope, according to Dufault and Martocchio includes all cognitive activities the hopeful person undertakes during the hoping process. For example, the process of hoping may include remembering something from the past, or perceiving a present situation in a

particular manner in order to maintain or support one's hope. The cognitive component maintains hope within a realistic viewpoint. A third dimension of hope in the theory of Dufault and Martocchio is the behavioural dimension. The behavioural dimension includes physical actions that are motivated by hope as well as those actions one takes to obtain a hope object. Dufault and Martocchio also describe an affiliative dimension of hope, which includes those aspects of hope that involve others. For example, a hope may include a relationship, one may obtain hope from another person, or require a response from another person in order to maintain a hope. A fifth dimension in which hope exists, according to Dufault and Martocchio is a temporal dimension; that is, hope exists across time, in the past, the present, and the future. Dufault and Martocchio contend that some hopes are not time-specific, and thus are protective, as they will not cease to exist. The final dimension of hope identified by Dufault and Martocchio is the contextual dimension. This dimension includes contexts that can enhance or diminish one's present hope, those that allow for the pursuit of hope objects, contexts that elicit the hoping process and situations that challenge one's hope. A context can be a physical environment or a situation. The contextual dimension is dependent on the cognitive dimension, as one's perception, thoughts and understanding of the context will affect whether the context is associated with hope or hopelessness. It is important to note that the six dimensions of hope presented by Dufault and Martocchio are not entirely discrete and hope in one dimension may influence another.

Farran et al. (1995) have also presented a comprehensive conceptualization of hope. Farran et al. describe hope as possessing four main attributes. The first aspect of hope is that one comes to know hope experientially, particularly when one encounters

challenges. Ironically, one can learn about hope through the experience of hopelessness. The second component is described as spiritual or transcendental and its basis is that individuals often connect their hope to their faith or religion. The third attribute identified by Farran et al. is hope as a rational thought process that keeps hope grounded in reality. Within this attribute are goals, resources, an active process, a feeling of control over one's future, and a sense of time, including one's past, present, and future experiences. This attribute includes components similar to those identified by Snyder et al. (1991) and Dufault and Martocchio (1985). The final attribute of hope identified by Farran et al. is that hope occurs within the context of relationships. Thus, hope may develop in a therapeutic relationship. The development of hope, according to Farran et al. occurs within an individual, within relationships, within communities and is influenced by life experiences and spiritual beliefs. These authors describe hope and its attributes as being particularly visible when one is being challenged; moreover, they describe hope that has been challenged as deeper than hope that has never been tested. Farran et al. further describe hope as a precondition for using coping strategies as well as a way of coping through cognitive reappraisal. Successful coping may lead to increased hope; therefore, according to Farran et al., hope and coping are intertwined.

There are a number of differences in the theories of Snyder et al. (1991), Farran et al. (1995) and Dufault and Martocchio (1985). While the model of hope supported by Snyder et al. is very specific and goal oriented, the concept of Dufault and Martocchio is more comprehensive and consists of more facets of hope, including those components of hope that are more general and non-specific. The main components of hope specified by Snyder et al. resemble the cognitive and behavioural dimensions and the particularized

sphere of the Dufault and Martocchio model of hope. An additional difference is that while Snyder's hope theory was first conceptualized and then tested, the theories of Dufault and Martocchio (1985) and Farran et al. (1995) were developed from research findings. Overall, the theories of Dufault and Martocchio (1985) and Farran et al. (1995) contain many similarities, including the identification of relationship and spiritual components of hope and being grounded in research.

Another theory of hope was described by Nunn (2005), who specified an important precondition to hoping. Nunn described hope as being present only when uncertainty is present; thus, hoping has a future orientation. In effect, one does not hope for something if it is known that it will absolutely occur. Nunn explained hope as consisting of three parts: a belief that something is possible but not certain, a desire to achieve the end, and a judgement that the hoped for object is in some sense good and therefore worthy of being hoped for. While Nunn states that hope cannot be changed wilfully, it can change indirectly as a result of information gathering that leads to a change in one's beliefs, desires, or judgements. As in other theories (e.g. Dufault & Martocchio, 1985; Farran et al. 1995), past, present and future experiences are said to influence one's hope. Nunn also described hope as being a situation in which one experiments with different hypothetical life situations, which may lead to a plan.

Like Nunn (2005), Averill and Sundararajan (2005) support the context of uncertainty in hope. However, these authors described the relationship between hope and an uncertain future as curvilinear; that is, if the hoped for result is either near certainty or improbability, the hope may be rejected. Other constraints on hope described by Averill and Sundararajan, referred to as rules by the authors, are moral constraints, in which an

individual may hope for only certain things that he or she believes are morally good, and an action condition, in which the hoping person is expected to act in ways to bring about the hoped for outcome. Finally, these authors state a priority rule that if the hoped for outcome is vital, the other constraints on hope may be set aside in order for the individual to maintain hope.

The use of the word hope in spoken language was examined to further understand hope (Eliott & Olver, 2002). During interviews about do-not-resuscitate orders (DNR's) with cancer patients, Eliott and Olver noted that the meaning of hope was different when patients used the term as a verb or adverb and when they used the term as a noun. As a noun, the existence of hope sometimes appeared dichotomous; that is, it could be either present or entirely absent, which was determined by the doctor. As such, for the patients, hope appeared to dictate what the future held, thereby influencing their current medical choices and actions. At times, hope as a noun was discussed as a subjective presence that could fluctuate, and although at these times it was not perceived as being determined by the doctor, the doctor could influence its fluctuations. This aspect of the patients' hope is important for caregivers to understand, as their actions appear to unintentionally influence the patients' hope or cause it to change. In contrast, when patients used the term "hope" as a verb, it was entirely subjective and derived internally, rather than from the doctor's perception. Hope in this sense protected the patient from an entirely negative view of their medical condition and future. Overall, Eliott and Olver found that their study participants understood hope in a number of different ways and used these different understandings at different times. Hope was ultimately understood by the patients as exerting a positive force over their physical and emotional health.

Eliott and Olver's description of hope incorporates many of the concepts within the model of Dufault and Martocchio's (1985), including that hope exists within relationships, situations, and influences behaviour, and can be directed toward a very specific hope object, or have a more general existence. Because Eliott and Olver found that hope was perceived differently at different times, these authors wondered if one definition of hope is achievable. Without a precise definition of hope that is applicable to all people at all times, measuring hope would be difficult and imprecise because the measures would not capture all possible meanings of hope or be understood by participants similarly.

Less developed conceptualizations of hope have also been described. In his description of the stages of hope in terminally ill patients, Bustamante (2001) described hope as personal. Although, he described stages in terms of themes of hope, which can be seen as general, he reports that each person's hope will be centred around different things based on their own internal and external experiences.

Campling (2002) states that hope is about connecting with others, and within the context of a healthy relationship, connection will lead to a sense of agency. This definition of hope is similar to the affiliative dimension of hope in the theory of Dufault and Martocchio (1985) and the relationship aspect of hope proposed by Farran et al. (1995). Campling describes despair as being linked to disconnection or the absence of connection, which in turn leads to a sense of helplessness. According to Campling, because of the hope brought on by connection, connection can be seen as leading to change. Campling states that patients who do not have a strong alliance with their therapist are at-risk for suicide due to the despair theorized to be brought on by

disconnection. This linking of relationships to hope can be used to theorize the change process in therapy, and to explain the consistent finding that hope and the therapeutic alliance are both important in therapy.

The existence of hope within helping relationships other than counselling has been studied. O'Hara (2001) explored hope within doctor-patient relationships and described hopeful patients as being focussed on the future and being active participants in the search for treatment options. O'Hara also distinguished optimism from hope by describing optimism as being based on past experience and statistical probability, and hope as being based on future possibility, which contrasts with the temporal dimension of hope of Dufault and Martocchio (1985), that hope can exist in the past, present and future. In addition, O'Hara stated that optimism is based on external information, while the origin of hope is internal and can change as circumstances change. There is not yet agreement in the literature on the distinction between hope and optimism. For example, Farran et al. (1995) differentiate optimism from hope by describing the goals of optimism as being more specific, more positive and less attainable than those based on hope. Snyder (1995) states that hope differs from optimism as it includes pathways to a goal, whereas optimism does not. Thus, the distinction between hope and optimism is unclear. Even though O'Hara described hope as internal and optimism as externally derived, she acknowledged that the doctor-patient relationship can influence the patient's hope, as she offers several strategies for physicians to use in order to increase patients' hope.

While the previously cited theories appear to be attempts at generalizations about the main features of hope, Jevne (2005) describes hope as personal and based on one's own experiences. She contends that each person has their own theory on hope, which

includes where hope originates, what factors can increase or decrease one's hope and what its focus should be. Such a view of hope has implications for whether or not it can be effectively measured. Jevne does agree, however that hope is multidimensional, as she also describes hope as an orientation to life. She states that one's approach to the world includes emotions, cognitions, behaviours and contexts, which leads to the many dimensions in which hope exists.

## Hope in counselling.

Within the counselling context, Edey and Jevne (2003) contend that hope is important in the healing process for both counsellors and their clients. Hope has also been proposed as a non-specific factor common to all systems of counselling (Snyder, Michael & Cheavens, 1999), while hopelessness has been implicated in both medical and psychiatric disorders (Nunn, 1996).

The process of hope in therapy has been explored by Babits (2001), who describes hope within psychotherapy as increasing when lack of hope has been acknowledged. Babits labels this phenomenon the Phoenix Juncture. Babits states that when treatment stagnates, the client and the treatment may appear hopeless. At this time, if the therapist acknowledges his or her own feelings of hopelessness with regard to treatment, two things occur to increase the client's hopefulness. First, the client and the therapist reconnect on the basis of the communication and the client is able to perceive evidence of evoking a response in the therapist. In essence, the client feels less isolated when the feeling of hopelessness is acknowledged because it becomes a shared feeling within the client-therapist relationship. Second, the client is also able to own the feeling as his or her own message being mirrored back by the therapist. According to Babits, the Phoenix

Juncture leads to a changed client-therapist relationship in which the client feels they have successfully attained hope from a state of despair. Babits' theory of the *Phoenix Juncture* contains traits of both the affiliative dimension and the affective dimension of hope within the model of Dufault and Martocchio (1985).

Similarly, Helm (2004) describes hope as occurring within the therapeutic relationship in psychoanalysis. The types of hope Helm described within therapy include unrealistic hope that maintains positive affect, hope that is implicit and not consciously communicated, and hope that is addressed directly during the therapeutic dialogue. Thus, hope can exist within many different forms in therapy, and it does not need to be addressed explicitly in order to be helpful in therapy.

Irving et al. (2004) studied the role of hope prior to and during counselling as it related to therapeutic outcome, well-being and level of functioning. These authors found that prior to and throughout treatment, higher hope was associated with increased well-being, increased coping, better functioning and fewer symptoms. In addition, it was found that hope continued to significantly contribute to outcome, when variables such as current coping were statistically controlled. The relationship between hope and coping also continued to be statistically significant when well-being, level of functioning and symptoms were controlled. This indicates that hope contributes to therapeutic outcome beyond level of distress and level of coping. Irving et al. based their conceptualization of hope on the theory put forth by Snyder. Upon exploring how hope changes over the course of therapy, Irving et al. found that clients' sense of agency increased at the beginning of therapy, while their pathways thinking increased during later stages of therapy.

In a study on hope and substance abuse treatment, it was found that individuals with higher hope were less likely to enter treatment (Jackson, Wernicke & Haaga, 2003). This finding may suggest that individuals with higher hope are able to develop strategies to deal with their difficulties without the help of a therapist; on the other hand, the finding may indicate that those with lower hope are more willing to admit they have a problem that they are unable to handle on their own (Jackson et al., 2003). Although previously discussed studies indicate that counselling leads to increased hope, it appears that initial level of hope may influence one's decision to commence therapy. Overall, hope has been shown to be important in counselling at all stages, including in the decision to take part in treatment.

Physiological evidence of the effects of hope.

Hope has been found to be associated with physiological changes in the body.

Udelman and Udelman (1991) found an association between hope and increased serotonin in the brain, which could decrease the likelihood or extent of depression. These authors contend that in light of their findings, treatment of illness should combine both medical treatment and therapy that targets emotions. Gottschalk, Fronczek and Buchsbaum (1993) used PET scans to locate the mental representations of hopefulness and hopelessness within the brain. Gottschalk et al. found that hopefulness and hopelessness result in differential glucose metabolism within separate areas of the brain; although, both hope and hopelessness appear to involve areas associated with cognition, memory, perception and emotion, they appear to be represented in separate locations within the brain. In addition, Gottshalk et al. (1993) argue that these different locations are involved in various psychological states. Therefore, the view that hope and

hopelessness affect one's psychological well-being is supported by the presence of physiological correlates of hope and hopelessness. The research of Udelman and Udelman (1991) and Gottshalk et al. (1993) indicate that evidence of physiological effects of hope have been found, and suggest that it could be beneficial to target hope with therapeutic interventions.

Overall, many researchers have addressed hope and its existence in the counselling context and caregiving relationships. The previously cited literature shows that hope has been described by researchers with a variety of theoretical backgrounds. Because it has been identified as important regardless of theoretical orientation toward psychotherapy, it follows that hope is most likely an important element that is common to all types of psychotherapy.

# The Therapeutic Alliance in Counselling

The relationship between client and therapist has been termed the therapeutic alliance, the working alliance or the therapeutic relationship. Although, these terms are often used interchangeably, their meanings can be interpreted slightly differently. The therapeutic relationship can be seen as a broader term, while the therapeutic alliance and working alliance are concepts that refer to a specific part of the relationship derived from research.

Due to the nature of psychotherapy and counselling, it is indisputable that a relationship between a therapist and a client exists; yet, the importance of this relationship to client change was not always accepted. When Rogers (1957) proposed that components of the therapeutic relationship not only led to client change, but were the necessary and sufficient conditions to promote such change, his views were considered

radical at the time. Some of the important components of therapy outlined by Rogers include establishing rapport, and providing the fundamental therapeutic conditions of genuineness, unconditional positive regard and empathy (Rogers, 1957; 1940). Today, these elements are known as the therapeutic triad and are considered essential to psychotherapy. Rogers hypothesised that it is the components of the relationship, such as empathy and genuineness that lead to change, rather than therapeutic techniques. Rogers (1957) proposed that using techniques in therapy is important only insofar as it allows for expression of the relationship components that are necessary for change to occur. Rogers also believed that the relationship and its importance spanned all types of therapies and all types of clients.

Although the relationship has not been shown to account for all of therapeutic change, it has been shown to account for a substantial amount of therapeutic outcome (Horvath & Symonds, 1991; Kivlighan & Shaughnessy, 1995; Martin, Garske & Davis, 2000). As well, the therapeutic relationship and its components, as defined by Rogers and including empathy and unconditional acceptance, has been shown to be related to greater self-esteem and less need for external approval (Cramer, 1993). Hence, Rogers' hypotheses have received partial support. In summarizing the important aspects of the therapeutic relationship as supported by the research literature, Sexton and Whiston (1991) stated that a helpful relationship between client and therapist should include interaction from both parties, and the counsellor should be perceived by the client as displaying empathy, positive regard, warmth and credibility. These attributes are analogous to those described by Rogers (1957). It is also now accepted that the therapeutic alliance is important to treatment success in all forms of therapy (Rogers,

1957; Bordin, 1979; Horvath & Greenberg, 1994; Horvath, 2000; Gelso & Carter, 1994; Luborsky, 1994).

The therapeutic alliance was originally described in psychoanalytic theory. Like Rogers (1957), Bordin (1979) argued that the working alliance is present in all forms of therapy and that a strong alliance is necessary to produce therapeutic change. Bordin (1979) described the alliance as involving a bond between therapist and client, and agreement on the tasks and goals of therapy. The alliance differs in definition from the therapeutic relationship by its emphasis on agreement on therapeutic tasks and goals. Bordin (1979) argued that due to their diverse natures, different types of therapy might produce different kinds of alliances because the various orientations place different demands on therapist and client, and lead to different types of tasks and goals. However, Horvath (1994) observed that there is no direct support for the contention that different types of therapy lead to different types of alliances. Bordin (1994) stated that the bond of the therapeutic alliance develops as a result of working on the shared activities (ie. the tasks) of therapy, and therefore, agreement on the tasks and goals are important in the development of the alliance. It has also been observed that both client and therapist characteristics influence the alliance since these characteristics influence the agreement on tasks and goals (Bordin, 1979). According to Bordin (1994), with clients with mild problems, a strong alliance can be developed in one session, while those with more severe psychological problems require more time to develop the working alliance with the therapist. Bordin's proposition of the importance of the therapeutic alliance (Bordin, 1979) has led to extensive research on the therapeutic alliance from all theoretical orientations.

Gelso and Carter (1994) have further specified the components and important features of the therapeutic alliance. These authors described the therapeutic relationship as consisting of the working alliance, a transference relationship, and a genuine relationship. According to this theory, a strong alliance is associated with little transference and much genuineness. These authors contend that the alliance is not stable over the course of therapy and often declines after its initial establishment, but will later increase if therapy is effective. The instability of the alliance over the course of therapy is due to changes in the amount of transference and genuineness at different times during treatment. Gelso and Carter reiterate Bordin's (1979) proposition of the importance of a strong alliance for therapy to be effective.

In their examination of the structure of the alliance over time, Kivlighan and Shaugnessy (1995) reported that in the beginning of therapy, therapists and clients view the quality of the alliance differently, but as treatment progresses, their ratings of the alliance become correlated. Kivlighan and Shaugnessy (1995) described the development of the alliance from the client's perspective as linear; thus, from the client's perspective, the alliance does not fluctuate over time, as described elsewhere (Gelso & Carter, 1994; Horvath & Greenberg, 1994). That clients' perception of the alliance is linear indicates that establishing a positive alliance early in therapy is important, as the client's view of the alliance may not change from their initial perception. Kivlighan and Shaugnessy (1995) agree with Gelso and Carter (1994) that the alliance is not static throughout treatment; but, similar to the findings of Martin et al. (2000), found that clients tend to view the alliance as stable. Because of the high correlations between alliance ratings at the final therapy session and client reports of treatment success, Kivlighan and

Shaugnessy (1995) suggest that the final alliance rating provides information about the success of treatment.

Importance of the alliance to treatment outcome.

The therapeutic alliance has been found to be a major contributor to therapeutic outcome (Horvath & Symonds, 1991; Kivlighan & Shaughnessy, 1995; Martin et al., 2000). The relationship between therapeutic success and the therapeutic alliance applies to all types of therapy (Bordin, 1979; Horvath & Greenberg, 1994; Luborsky, 1994). While it has been estimated that the therapeutic relationship accounts for 30% of client improvement (Lambert, 1992), other reports indicate that the correlation between the therapeutic alliance and treatment outcome is between .20 and .45 (Luborsky, 1994), which would indicate that the alliance accounts for between 4 and 20 percent of therapeutic outcome. Similarly, in their meta-analysis, Horvath and Symonds (1991) reported an average effect size of the alliance to be .26, a finding that was robust across studies that differed on other variables, such as number of subjects and length of treatment.

Martin et al. (2000) conducted a similar meta-analysis to that of Horvath and Symonds (1991) but included more studies, both published and unpublished. An overall correlation of .22 between alliance and treatment outcome was reported. An examination of the studies that used the Working Alliance Inventory (WAI; Horvath & Greenberg, 1989) found the correlation between the WAI and outcome to be .24. Elsewhere, it has been reported that the average correlation between the WAI and therapeutic outcome is .33 (Horvath, 1994).

The relationship between alliance and outcome has been found to be strongest when clients' perceptions of the alliance are used (Horvath & Symonds, 1991; Luborsky, 1994). This does not necessarily indicate that clients are more sensitive in their perceptions of the alliance, but rather, it may be the case that clients and therapists are attuned to different elements of therapy when rating the alliance (Samstag, Batchelder, Muran, Safran & Winston, 1998). That is, the therapist's perception of the alliance may be based in theory, while the client's perception is subjective and based on past relationship experiences (Horvath, 2000). In order for a positive therapeutic outcome to occur, the therapeutic alliance must be developed and established in the early stages of therapy (Horvath & Greenberg, 1994). Luborsky (1994) reported that healthier clients are able to develop stronger alliance with their therapist.

The therapeutic alliance has also been found to contribute to the improvement of specific problems. Barber, Connolly, Crits-Christoph, Gladis and Siqueland (2000) found the therapeutic alliance to be predictive of improvement in depression. More specifically, those patients who improved more over the course of treatment reported a stronger alliance with their therapist and this relationship remained significant even when prior change in depression symptoms was statistically controlled. Thus, the therapeutic alliance continues to be an important predictor of treatment outcome throughout therapy, regardless of previous symptom reduction.

Meyer et al. (2002) found that the relationship between the client's expectation of treatment outcome and actual outcome is mediated by the client's contribution to the alliance. Thus, a client who expects a better outcome from therapy, makes more positive contributions to the alliance, and therefore, achieves greater improvement. The belief that

therapy will produce change is imperative to outcome. The present study may reveal whether clients with higher levels of hope do the same.

It has been reported that clients who were receiving psychological treatment for depression and who reported a more positive therapeutic alliance were more likely to remain in treatment and to have more positive outcomes (Blatt, Zuroff, Quinlan & Pilkonis, 1996). Blatt et al. also explored the influence of client characteristics on the importance of the therapeutic alliance and found that therapeutic outcome was significantly predicted by alliance when the client reported moderate amounts of perfectionism; however, at either high or low levels of client perfectionism, therapeutic outcome was better predicted by perfectionism, rather than alliance. Blatt et al. interpret their results as suggesting that at low levels of perfectionism, clients are able to benefit from therapy regardless of the quality of the relationship, at moderate levels of perfectionism, the relationship contributes to the clients' ability to overcome negative schemas, while at high levels of perfectionism, the quality of the alliance does not reduce the negative effects of perfectionism as much. Thus, clients with differing levels of perfectionism experienced the therapeutic relationship as differing in importance to outcome. Blatt et al. suggest that treatment outcome is the result of an interaction between client and therapist characteristics in the development of the therapeutic alliance. For this reason, Blatt et al. contend that the therapeutic relationship is an important concept to study, rather than comparing different therapeutic interventions.

Therapeutic alliance and treatment termination.

Although, the therapeutic alliance has been found to be related to treatment success, as discussed above, its relationship to the manner in which a client terminates

agreement between the client and therapist to cease therapy after either successful or unsuccessful outcome, or for the client to discontinue treatment without consulting his or her therapist, which is also termed as dropping out of therapy or premature termination.

Although some researchers have hypothesised that treatment dropouts do not experience a positive alliance with their therapist, not all have found supporting evidence for this contention.

In their study on treatment failure, Samstag et al. (1998) found that patients who dropped out of therapy rated the therapeutic alliance significantly lower than clients who remained in therapy and reported either good or poor treatment outcomes. In addition, when the therapists rated the alliance, the dropout group had significantly lower alliance scores than the good outcome group, although the scores were not significantly different from the poor outcome group. Thus, the client rated alliance predicted dropping out from treatment, but the therapist rated alliance did not.

In a similar study exploring predictors of premature termination, Kokotovic and Tracey (1990) found that neither variables reported by clients nor those rated by therapists after the first session discriminated those clients who would continue in counselling from those who would not. Kokotovic and Tracey reported that the working alliance did not differ significantly between clients who stayed in treatment and those who did not. As well, although a client's level of adjustment as rated by the therapist was related to the overall working alliance scores, the client self-reports on adjustment were unrelated. Additionally, a client's presenting concerns were generally not related to level of alliance; this contradicts the finding of Luborsky (1994) who found that

psychologically healthier clients develop a stronger therapeutic alliance when in treatment.

The inconsistency in the literature regarding the alliance as a predictor of treatment termination may be related to differences in when and how the alliance is measured as well as a failure to differentiate the clients who terminate treatment prematurely due to dissatisfaction from those who terminate because they feel they have benefited from therapy. Within the alliance literature, strategies to resolve problematic alliances have been suggested; thus, it is possible that conflicting evidence on the relationship between poor alliance and treatment termination appears because some therapists who recognize the poor alliance are able to address the underlying issues in such a way that the alliance improves and the clients remains in treatment (Kokotovic & Tracey, 1990). On the other hand, the literature may be contradictory because the relationship between the alliance and treatment continuation is mediated by another variable. For example, it has been found that clients who continue with counselling differ significantly from those who discontinue prematurely in their satisfaction toward counselling (Kokotovic & Tracey, 1987).

Hope within the therapeutic alliance.

Little has been written on the relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance. A search of the literature revealed only one unpublished study exploring the contribution of the alliance to the client's hope (Kraatz, 2003).

Kraatz (2003) researched whether the therapeutic alliance, measured from the client's point of view after six counselling sessions, was related to hope, depression and psychological distress prior to counselling and after six counselling sessions. Kraatz

reported a significant increase in hope during the course of therapy, while the participants' depression and psychological distress did not decrease significantly. This finding indicates that a change in hope was not related to changes in depression or distress. Kraatz also reported that the therapeutic alliance, as reported by the client, did not predict an increase in hope, a decrease in depression or a decrease in psychological distress. The findings of Kraatz, that the alliance did not predict treatment outcome, contradicts the findings of other previously cited studies on the therapeutic alliance (e.g. Horvath & Symonds, 1991; Kivlighan & Shaughnessy, 1995; Martin et al., 2000). It is possible that the ability to detect a relationship was reduced because data was collected only twice during the study and because the second measures were taken after only six sessions.

Although Kraatz (2003) did not find a relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance, limitations in her study and the findings from other studies support further investigation of the relationship. For instance, hope has been theorized as existing within relationships (Farran et al., 1995; Campling, 2002; Herth, 2005). Likewise, Dufault and Martocchio (1985) include an affiliative dimension of hope, and state that the hope of others can influence one's level of hope or encourage one to act on one's hope and describes hope as being present in a relationship. In addition, Helm (2004) has specifically described hope as being part of the therapeutic relationship in psychoanalysis. Based on the theories of Dufault and Martocchio (1985), Campling (2002) and Helm (2004), it is likely that a relationship between the therapeutic alliance and hope does exist. Horvath and Greenberg (1994) described a client's initial approach toward treatment as hopeful and stated that if the alliance is not established, this

hopefulness will dissipate; this suggests that the maintenance of hope and the development of the therapeutic alliance are inherently related. In addition, like the alliance, hope has been found to be related to therapeutic outcome (Irving et al., 2004). The evidence that both hope and the alliance relate to outcome supports an exploration of the relationship between the two.

Bustamante (2001) explored the relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance with terminally ill patients during their process of dying. Bustamante stated that hope contributed to the therapeutic alliance by providing a direction. The direction of therapy may function as a general goal toward which the therapist and client are working, which is similar to Bordin's (1979) theory of the therapeutic alliance as including an agreement on the goals of therapy.

Some of the variance in the client's rating of the alliance has been found to be related to client psychopathology (McCabe & Priebe, 2003). That is, certain psychological symptoms, such as disordered thoughts and depressive symptoms, were negatively correlated with measures of alliance. It has not been determined whether hope, or lack thereof, is a contributing characteristic. Thus, many questions remain, regarding the relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance.

### Self-criticism

Self-criticism has been reported to be correlated with many psychiatric problems and social difficulties (Blatt, 2004) but much of the research has focussed on its relationship to depression (e.g. Blatt, 2004; Rector et al., 2000; Riley & McCranie, 1990; Zuroff, 1994). Self-criticism is closely related to perfectionism, which has been found to act as a barrier to benefiting from therapy (Blatt et al., 1995) and may be a mediating

factor in therapy outcome (Zuroff et al., 2000). In general, it has been found that counselling clients who are highly self-critical experience less success in therapy (Rector et al., 2000), regardless of the type of therapy provided (Blatt et al., 1995).

Self-criticism includes negative thoughts or statements aimed at oneself.

According to Bergner (1995), self-criticism need not be damaging; rather, the intent of criticism and self-criticism is to benefit the individual by informing whether or not a behaviour was effective, and if not, what can improve it. Bergner describes self-criticism as pathological when it damages ones ability to participate in a satisfying manner in work and relationships. According to Bergner, the effects of pathological self-criticism include lowered self-esteem, increased vulnerability to the criticism from others, negative emotional states, ignoring positive attributes, and social withdrawal. Highly self-critical individuals also tend to engage in self-blame (Brown & Silberschatz, 1989; Dunkley, Zuroff & Blankstein, 2003).

Bergner (1995) describes a number of reasons that self-critical persons have difficulty changing that have important implications for counselling. To begin with, the individual may not be aware of his or her self-critical thoughts. Second, self-criticism may serve a purpose for the individual, such as being used as a motivation, albeit an ineffective one, for achievement. As well, self-criticism often leads to self-fulfilling prophecies that confirm the individual's beliefs. Because, as mentioned above, self-critical individuals discount positive attributes, they may have difficulty perceiving evidence that contradicts their criticisms. Bergner describes other reasons for engaging in self-critical behaviour such as individuals not wanting to develop an expectation for something and then having their hopes disappointed. Because these aspects of self-

criticism render change difficult, it follows that self-critical individuals will have more difficulty achieving therapeutic success.

Self-critical perfectionism has been associated with more negative mood states and fewer positive mood states (Dunkley et al., 2003; Mongrain & Zuroff, 1995). While self-criticism does not affect dropout rates in therapy (Rector et al., 2000), Rector et al. demonstrated that it not only affects therapeutic outcome, but a reduction in self-criticism was also related to improved treatment outcomes. While it does not appear that the relationship between hope and self-criticism has been explored, because self-criticism has been described as a component of depression (Blatt, 2004; Rector et al., 2000), it may be indirectly related to hope. Indeed, if an individual feels they are not good enough or cannot be successful, it is difficult to imagine that they may feel hopeful toward a future unknown. In addition, self-criticism has been reported to be positively correlated with hopelessness (Riley & McCranie, 1990); thus, an association with hope likely exists.

Self-criticism has been found to be related to certain personality traits. In women, it is positively correlated with neuroticism, negatively correlated with extraversion and negatively correlated with conscientiousness (Zuroff, 1994). Women's peers also perceived them as neurotic if the women tended to be self-critical (Zuroff, 1994). Zuroff et al. (1983) report that self-critical women are perceived as less likeable. Thus, self-criticism is apparent to others to some degree and can lead to negative evaluations.

The effect of self-criticism on the opinions of others has been studied. Powers and Zuroff (1988) had research participants evaluate their performance and the performance of a confederate in conditions in which the confederate was self-enhancing, self-critical or neutral. It was found that the participants evaluated themselves and the confederate

more highly when the confederate was self-enhancing. Conversely, subjects with a self-critical confederate were more self-critical themselves and rated the self-critical confederate higher than themselves. Overall, the self-critical confederates were evaluated less well than the self-enhancing confederates. In addition, the participants with a self-critical confederate made more positive statements to the confederate during a break from the task and expressed more negative opinions of themselves. While the self-critical confederates were evaluated positively during the experiment, after the experiment participant reports indicated they were perceived as less happy, more depressed and functioning less well as students, employees or dates. Overall, this research indicates that while self-critics tend to elicit positive verbal responses from others, the private responses of others were negative. If these findings hold true during psychotherapy, the therapeutic alliance would likely be affected.

Self-criticism has been shown to predict greater achievement goals and fewer interpersonal goals (Mongrain & Zuroff, 1995) while the related concept of perfectionism has been found to impede the development of relationships (Zuroff et al., 2000). Because, as discussed earlier, the relationship component of therapy contributes to a large portion of therapeutic outcome, it follows that self-critical individuals will have fewer successes in therapy. Bergner (1995) describes effective components of the therapeutic relationship when working with self-critical clients as including such things as expressing to the clients that they are acceptable people, that they are significant people, that they possess the agency and capability to change and can be a collaborator in the therapeutic process. It is noteworthy that these components are effective components of all therapeutic relationships, not just those with self-critical clients. Bergner states that therapists should

not view self-critical clients differently, but need to express their acceptance and the other relational components more directly. Importantly, Bergner describes the therapeutic relationship as a necessary intervention with self-critical clients, as it provides a corrective experience; however, it may be more difficult for self-critical clients to develop a strong therapeutic relationship.

Perfectionism, the setting of very high standards for oneself, is related to self-criticism as perfectionists may be highly self-critical when they do not attain the standards they set. Perfectionism has been shown to affect the therapeutic alliance. Zuroff et al. (2000) found that among highly perfectionist clients the therapeutic alliance did not increase or increased only slightly over the course of therapy and the clients' contribution to the alliance did not increase during therapy. That is, perfectionist clients did not become adequately involved in therapy even though they felt as valued by their therapists as other clients did. Zuroff et al. give several reasons as to why perfectionist clients did not contribute to the therapeutic relationship, including their difficulty in developing relationships, needing a longer time to develop strong relationships, or a difficulty in working through alliance ruptures. Zuroff et al. also reported that the negative relationship between perfectionism and outcome could be partly explained by the perfectionists not developing a strong therapeutic alliance.

Overall, the above literature shows that self-criticism and perfectionism do affect counselling outcome and the therapeutic alliance. While it does not appear that its relationship to hope has been explored, certain difficulties associated with self-criticism may also make it difficult for self-critical individuals to develop and maintain hope.

Mainly, difficulties in developing positive relationships, more negative moods, and

discounting positive attributes would impinge on the development of hope in many of the dimensions described by Dufault and Martocchio (1985), including the affective, affiliative, and cognitive dimensions. The temporal dimension of hope may also be affected if the self-criticism has been pervasive and enduring, which could in turn, influence the behavioural realm of hope. An exploration of the relationship between hope and self-criticism may answer whether they are truly incompatible.

## The Common Factors Model of Therapy

Hope and the therapeutic alliance are variables that fall within the common factors model of psychotherapy. Client variables, such as self-criticism, can also be considered common factors as they are not specific to a certain type of treatment. The common factors model of psychotherapy states that despite theoretical orientation, it is the common elements within all types of therapy and therapy techniques that lead to change and therapeutic success (Lambert, Garfield & Bergin, 2004). Lambert et al. (2004) report that overall, therapeutic techniques have not been shown to produce unique effects; that is, specific techniques do not appear to contribute significantly to therapeutic outcome. Similarly, Sexton and Whiston (1991) report in their review of the literature that research evidence does not support client outcome being related to specific theoretical counselling models. Likewise, Luborsky et al. (2003) reported in their summary of literature that the differences between treatment outcomes of different orientations toward therapy are not significant. Luborsky et al. (2003) suggest that when differences are found between treatments, they are due to chance factors. The above research suggests that the success of therapy is attributable to other elements that operate across all forms of therapy; these elements have been termed common factors.

In support of the common factors view of psychotherapy success, Gershefski, Arnkoff, Glass and Elkin (1996) found that in spite of the specific treatment depressed clients received, the most commonly reported helpful elements within therapy were elements that are common in all types of treatment. These authors found that treatment groups differed only in their reports of elements that are specific to a particular type of treatment, not in their reports of the helpfulness of the common elements of therapy.

Hope has been proposed as a non-specific factor common to all systems of counselling (Snyder, Michael & Cheavens, 1999). Snyder et al. reason that because most change occurs in the early part of therapy, the change is likely not due to specific techniques, but rather, common factors. More specifically, and in line with the hope theory proposed by Snyder, these authors contend that therapy is effective because it leads to either an increase in one's sense of agency, a renewal of one's goals or new goals, or a new pathway toward one's goals, which in turn, increases the client's level of hope. Extrapolating from Snyder et al., it follows that any system of therapy may effectively increase a client's hope, and therefore be an effective form of therapy.

Barker, Funk, and Houston (1988) conducted a meta-analysis to determine the effect of non-specific factors in therapy, by comparing studies that compared a psychological treatment to a non-specific factors control group. The aim of the analysis was to determine whether active treatment has an effect beyond the effect of the factors that are common across therapies, when treatment expectation is similar between groups. These authors found less than half of the total treatment effects were due to non-specific factors and therefore conclude that psychological treatment is more effective than non-specific factors conditions. Interestingly, these results did not hold true at follow-up;

rather, the differences among the treatment conditions and non-specific factors conditions were smaller at follow-up, while the differences between the non-specific factors condition and no treatment were larger at follow-up. Barker et al. suggest the change from post-test to follow-up may indicate that individuals in the non-specific factors group continue to improve after treatment has ended. Thus, although the non-specific factors were not found to produce as large an improvement by the end of treatment, these factors continue to have an effect which becomes visible at follow-up. In summary, although Barker et al. found psychological treatment produced greater change than non-specific factors, this gap closed somewhat by follow-up, and non-specific factors were nevertheless seen to contribute to outcome at follow-up.

In contrast to the findings of Barker et al. (1988), a more recent meta-analysis found no significant differences between full treatments, and treatments which excluded the theoretically crucial elements (Ahn & Wampold, 2001). Overall, Ahn and Wampold found no evidence that the specific elements of different therapies, which are proposed to be the basis of change, do in fact lead to change. Moreover, these authors found that among the 27 treatment comparisons included in their meta-analysis, the effect sizes were not significantly different. The results of Ahn and Wampold suggest support for the common factors theory of psychotherapy.

In their study of the therapeutic alliance and client characteristics in clients diagnosed with depression, Blatt et al. (1996) found that the therapeutic alliance did not differ among clients receiving two different types of therapy: interpersonal therapy and cognitive behavioural therapy. These findings support the position that the therapeutic alliance is an important contributor to therapeutic outcome, regardless of type of therapy.

Because their results were true across different types of therapy, the findings of Blatt et al. also support the common factors view of therapy.

In contrast to the contentions of both the common factors model of therapy and specific theoretical orientations to counselling, Beutler and Harwood (2002) write that both specific interventions and common factors, such as the therapeutic relationship, account for similar amounts of variance in treatment outcome. According to these authors, the effects of common factors generally, and the therapeutic alliance specifically, cannot be separated from the specific therapeutic practices used.

Although, full support for the common factors model of therapy has not been achieved, it has been shown that common factors are effective elements of psychotherapy. The present study is a further exploration of the relationships among several common elements in psychotherapy.

### Hypotheses

Based on the above review of the literature, several hypotheses regarding hope, the working alliance and self-criticism were developed. It is expected that:

- 1. Hope scores will increase during counselling.
- 2. Working alliance scores will increase during counselling.
- 3. Psychological symptoms will decrease during counselling.
- 4. Hope scores will be positively correlated with alliance scores.
- The correlation between hope and the therapeutic alliance will be stronger when the degree of psychological distress is partialled out from the relationship.
- 6. Self-criticism will be negatively correlated with hope.

7. Self-criticism will be negatively correlated with alliance scores.

### Summary

Research on hope indicates that it increases over the course of counselling and that hope is positively related to therapeutic outcome (Irving et al., 2004). In addition, many hope theories contain a relational aspect of hope (Campling, 2002; Dufault & Martocchio, 1985; Helm, 2004), which supports the investigation of the relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance. Furthermore, some alliance theorists indicate that hope is present during the initial stages of therapy, and may change depending on whether a strong alliance develops (Horvath and Greenberg, 1994). Overall, although few studies have taken into account both the alliance and a client's level of hope, aspects of the theories behind the concepts of the alliance and hope suggest that these two counselling components may be related. Because a client's level of self-criticism and perfectionism has been found to negatively influence counselling success (Blatt et al., 1995; Blatt et al., 1996, Rector et al., 2000; Zuroff et al., 2000) an exploration of its influence on the other study variables, which have both been reported to be beneficial elements of counselling, is warranted in order to understand its role in counselling.

### CHAPTER III

### Methodology

The study was conducted in a naturalistic setting at a university clinic that trains graduate students in counselling. The clinic offers individual therapy, couples counselling, family counselling and play therapy as well as psychological and educational assessments to individuals of all ages.

Westen and Morrison (2001) noted that because most potential participants are excluded from participating in research studies related to the effectiveness of therapy, the generalizability of the results of such studies is unknown for clinicians who are unable to choose their clients. These authors found a relationship between the number of potential participants that were excluded from a study and the number of participants who improved due to treatment, suggesting that improvement is more visible when the study sample is homogenous. However, because few clinicians work with a homogenous population, it is currently unknown whether the therapies tested in research laboratories are in fact better or worse than the therapy practised by therapists in clinics (Westen & Morrison, 2001). That research participants presented with multiple and diverse issues for counselling and were not screened on the basis of these issues represents a strength of this study because the study population is more likely representative of a typical outpatient counselling population.

# **Participants**

Potential participants included all adults 18 years and older who sought individual counselling at the Education Clinic, at the University of Alberta between September 2004

and April 2005. All adults seeking individual counselling were approached for participation, regardless of presenting issue. During the course of the study, 196 people presented to the clinic for counselling. Of these, 105 clients were adults seeking individual counselling. Of the 105 clients who were invited to join the study, 67 agreed to participate. The therapists were seven doctoral students and eight Masters' level students who were each supervised by experienced chartered psychologists.

Participants ranged in age from 18 to 62 years old, with the mean age being 35.5 years. The majority of participants (69%) were female, while 31% were male. Most participants were self-referred to the clinic (52.2%); other participants were referred by a physician (14.9%), an agency (9%) or "other" (23.9%), usually described as being a friend, family member, or the media. An overwhelming majority of clients identified themselves as Caucasian (88.1%) while 7.5% of clients identified being of Mixed Ethnicity, one client self-identified as Asian and one client as East Indian. Of the 64 participants who described their marital status, 28.4% reported being single, 37.3% reported being married or having a common-law partner, 26.9% of participants reported being divorced or separated, while 3% reported being widowed. Participants came from diverse income brackets ranging from a total household income of less than \$10,000 per year, to over \$50,000 per year. Participants were fairly evenly distributed across six predefined income categories, which were: less than \$10,000; \$10,000-\$20,000; \$20,000-\$30,000; \$30,000-\$40,000; \$40,000-\$50,000; and \$50,000 or more. Educational level ranged from a high school diploma to graduate degrees. Analysis of variance and chisquare revealed no significant differences on the aforementioned variables among clients who chose not to participate in the research when compared to clients who did

participate; thus, the study participants were representative of the adult population seeking counselling at this clinic.

While initial response to participate in the study was satisfactory, each phase of the study contained fewer participants. The study started with 67 participants, then 43 participants completed the instruments at session 5, and 32 participants completed the instruments at counselling termination. Thus, the dropout rate from session one to session five was approximately 36%, and by termination, 52% of initial participants did not complete the study.

Because of the dropout rate of the study, analyses were conducted prior to the testing of hypotheses to determine whether non-completers were significantly different from completers on the measured demographic variables. Analysis of variance indicated that completers and non-completers did not differ with regards to age, while chi-square indicated no significant difference based on gender, ethnicity, referral source, marital status, education, and household income. ANOVAs additionally indicated no significant differences between study completers and non-completers on the initial measures of hope, the working alliance, self-criticism and psychological health. A significant difference for number of counselling sessions was found, however; analysis of variance indicated that those participants who completed a termination package received more counselling sessions that those who did not (F=11.809, p<.01). On average, those participants who completed the study took part in 13 sessions, while those participants who did not complete the study averaged 7 counselling sessions.

The results of the analysis of variance and chi-square showed that the study sample was not different on the demographic variables from non-participants who attended the clinic for counselling. Apart from the total number of counselling sessions, it appears that those who did complete the study were also representative of the original study sample.

### Instruments

To measure the study variables, four self-report measures were used. Hope was measured with the Herth Hope Scale (HHS; Herth, 1991), the alliance was measured with the Working Alliance Inventory, Short Form (WAI; Horvath & Greenberg, 1989) psychological health was measured using the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ; Goldberg & Hillier, 1979) and the self-criticism scale of the Depressive Experiences Questionnaire (DEQ; Blatt, D'Afflitti & Quinlan, 1976) provided the measure self-criticism. Although, self-criticism was not an original study variable, the DEQ was being used for a concurrent study with the same clients, so the self-criticism data was included for an exploratory analysis. As will be explained in the procedures section, participants completed four self- report measures at session 1, two self-report measures at session 5 and three at counselling termination.

### The Working Alliance Inventory.

The WAI was developed to measure the therapeutic alliance across all types of therapy (Horvath, 1994). Tracey and Kokotovic (1989) conducted confirmatory factor analysis to determine which of three proposed models best describes the factor structure of the WAI. These authors conclude that a bi-level model was the best fit for the data. The bi-level model describes the WAI as measuring an overall alliance measure and three factors based on Bordin's (1979) definition of the therapeutic alliance: the bond between

the therapist and client, agreement on tasks and agreement on therapeutic goals. Using the results of their study, these authors also formed the WAI-Short, a condensed version of the WAI, by assembling the four highest-loading items on each of the three WAI subscales, to obtain a 12 item measure of the therapeutic alliance. Similar to the original 36 item version of the WAI, the shortened version is reported by Tracey and Kokotovic to fit in their proposed bi-level model, by measuring one overall alliance factor, and the three factors of the alliance put forth by Bordin. Tracey and Kokotovic also report that the internal consistency of the WAI-S is satisfactory. These authors suggest that the subscale scores should be used with multivariate statistics, and univariate tests should involve only the general alliance factor.

Busseri and Tyler (2003) compared the WAI to the WAI-S. Both measures were found to have high internal consistency, the subscales of each form were found to intercorrelate highly as did the overall alliance rating from each test. Subscale and total scores from each were found to have similar descriptive statistics. Furthermore, Busseri and Tyler found the predictive validities of both the WAI and the WAI-S to outcome variables to be comparable. These authors suggest their results support the validity and reliability of the WAI-S and conclude that the WAI-S can be used in place of the longer WAI. Based on these findings, the WAI-S was chosen for the present study to reduce participant fatigue. Each item on the WAI-S is based on a 7-point likert scale; thus, the highest attainable score is 84 while the lowest possible score is 12.

Herth Hope Scale.

The Herth Hope Scale (HHS; Herth, 1991) is a 30 item self-report measure of hope based on the theory of hope put forth by Dufault and Martocchio. The HHS is

scored on a 4-point likert scale with the low end of the scale represented by 0 and the high end by 3. The lowest possible score on the HHS is 0 while the highest is 90 and a higher score is indicative of higher hope. The instrument was validated on a wide range of adults including healthy adults, a group of elderly individuals living in the community, a group of elderly widows and a group of adult cancer patients. The scale's internal consistency, test-retest reliability and discriminant validity are all high, which supports its use. Factor analysis (Herth, 1991) indicates adequate construct validity and three factors that are consistent with the six dimensions of Dufault and Martocchio's (1985) model of hope. The factors are also the subscales of the HHS. The first subscale is labelled Temporality and Future and it is said to measure the cognitive and temporal dimensions of hope. The Positive Readiness and Expectancy subscale is said to measure the affective and behavioural dimensions of hope, while the Interconnectedness subscale measures the affiliative and contextual dimensions of hope.

### The General Health Questionnaire.

The General Health Questionnaire- 28 (GHQ; Goldberg & Hillier, 1979) is a 28 item self-report instrument that provides an overall index of health, and 4 subscales that measure anxiety and insomnia, depression, somatic symptoms and social dysfunction. It is based on an earlier 60 item version of the GHQ. Although there is some correlation between subscales, this correlation reflects the general factor that was found to account for 35% of the variance in the original analysis (Goldberg & Hillier, 1979). Goldberg and Hillier (1979) found that the 28 item GHQ accounted for 59% of total variance in one sample and 53% and 58% of the variance when the analysis was replicated with two other samples. When the factor structure of the GHQ-28 was analysed more recently, it

was found that the factors were relatively stable across countries as compared to the original analysis (Werneke, Goldberg, Yalcin and Ustun, 2000). Like the HHS, the GHQ is scored on a 4-point likert scale with 0 to 3 points being awarded. The lowest possible total score is 0 while the highest is 84. High scores indicate many psychological symptoms were reported, while low scores indicate fewer symptoms and better psychological health.

The Depressive Experiences Questionnaire.

The Depressive Experiences Questionnaire (DEQ; Blatt, D'Affitti & Quinlan, 1976) is a 66 item self-report instrument meant to measure an enduring vulnerability to depression, rather than symptoms of depression. Factor analysis in the original validation sample revealed three factors. The three factors, which are also the three scales of the DEQ are dependency, self-criticism and self-efficacy. Split-half reliability indicates the factor structure is stable (Blatt et al., 1976) and the factors have been shown to be stable across time (Zuroff et al., 1983), which indicates the scales measure fixed traits. The dependency and self-criticism scales are reported to have moderately strong internal consistency in a normal population (Viglione, Clemmey & Camezuli, 1990) and acceptable construct validity in clinical populations (Riley & McCranie, 1990). Each item of the DEQ is based on a 7-point likert scale. The scoring of the DEQ is complex because items are weighted differently, so a computer program is required. Standard scores are derived from norms and an individual's score is expressed as a deviation from the norm. For the purposes of this study, only the data from the self-criticism scale were used.

#### Procedure

Consent for participation was sought by each client's therapist at the beginning of the initial counselling session, at which time written consent was obtained for those who chose to participate (see Appendix A). An overview of the project was provided to all participants (see Appendix B). Participants were informed that they were under no obligation to participate and could withdraw from the study at any time. Participants were informed that personal information and responses from the study would not be shared with their therapist; thus, confidentiality was ensured. All participants were assigned a research number for identification purposes and the completed forms were placed in sealed envelopes in a locked box so as to not be seen by the participants' therapists.

The Herth Hope Scale, DEQ and the GHQ were first completed prior to the first session as part of the clinic intake package, while the WAI was completed after the first session if the client consented to participate in the study. The HHS and WAI were completed after session 5, and the HHS, WAI and GHQ were completed at the client's final counselling session.

### Statistical analysis

Data was compiled and analysed using SPSS 11.0. All comparisons were planned and designed to answer the research questions. Thus, to examine whether hope and the alliance each increase as therapy progresses, correlation coefficients for sessions one, five and termination of the HHS were calculated, as were the correlation coefficients of the WAI at sessions one, five and termination. The correlation between the WAI and the HHS was calculated to determine whether there is a relationship between these two

variables, and finally, the correlation between the WAI and the HHS was calculated with the measure of psychological distress partialled out. The self-criticism scale of the DEQ was correlated with the HHS, the WAI and the GHQ. Repeated measures ANOVA was used to compare the mean scores of the HHS and the WAI at the three data collection times, to obtain an understanding of the overall trend of these variables during the study. While the data from all the participants was used for the correlational analyses, when calculating Repeated Measures ANOVAs, only the data from the participants who completed the study were used. For all analyses, a cut-off of p<.05 was chosen for the level of significance, as is routine in the social sciences to balance the effects of Type I and Type II error.

### CHAPTER IV

### Results

The focus of this section is the statistical analysis of the data obtained. The analysis for each hypothesis will be described, as will whether or not the hypothesis received support. Not all of the hypotheses were statistically supported, but it is unclear whether this is due to unanticipated results, or because of loss of power due to participant dropout rates.

### Hope During Counselling

Hypothesis 1 was that hope would increase during counselling. The means of the Herth Hope Scale at Time 1 (initial session), Time 2 (session 5) and Time 3 (termination session) for the study completers were compared using repeated measures ANOVA. The means and standard deviations for the study completers and the full sample are presented in Table 1. A linear model was found to be significant (F=24.594, p<.001) for the study completers. Contrasts were conducted to determine which means were significantly different and it was found that all means were significantly different from each other. Hope increased significantly at each measurement time as compared to the previous measurement time; thus, hypothesis 1 was supported.

Table 1

Mean Scores on the Herth Hope Scale

	<b>2</b>		
	Session 1	Session 5	Termination
Study Completers	60.157 (16.663)	65.500 (14.347)	71.109 (15.622)
	n= 23	n= 23	n= 23
Full Sample	59.0434 (15.396)	64.636 (12.909)	71.726 (14.235)
	n=67	n= 43	n= 31

Note. Standard deviations are in parantheses.

### Working Alliance During Counselling

Hypothesis 2 was that the working alliance scores would increase during counselling. Repeated measures ANOVA was used to compare the means of the Working Alliance Inventory at the three measurement times for study completers. The linear model described the data slightly better than the quadratic model (F= 6.488, p<.05). The means and standard deviations are presented in Table 2. Contrasts indicated that for study completers, while the mean at Time 1 is significantly different from the means at Time 2 and Time 3, the difference between the Time 2 and Time 3 means are not different. Thus, while the alliance, as perceived by the client, increased from the session 1 to session 5, it did not change significantly from session 5 to the termination session. Hypothesis 2 was supported as the working alliance did increase from session 1 to session 5, but the increase did not continue after session 5.

Table 2

Mean scores on the WAI

	Session 1	Session 5	Termination
Completers	65.773 (9.670)	72.273 (8.542)	71.864 (9.770)
	n=22	n= 22	n=22
All Participants	66.175 (9.478)	70.878 (9.125)	70.978 (9.129)
	n= 59	n=41	n= 32

Note. Standard deviations are in parantheses.

## Psychological Health

Hypothesis 3, that an analysis of the GHQ scores would indicate an increase in psychological health, also received support. A paired samples t-test was used to determine whether psychological health, as measured by the General Health Questionnaire, improved during counselling. Based on the 32 participants who completed the GHQ at the initial session and at termination, the mean GHQ score at the initial session ( $\bar{x}$ = 26.563, SD= 15.145) was higher than the GHQ score at the termination session ( $\bar{x}$ = 16.719, SD= 9.045). This difference was significant (t= 4.063, p<.001), indicating that reported symptoms decreased and psychological health improved during counselling. The means also indicate that although symptoms decreased, they did not disappear completely.

# Relationship Between Hope, the Alliance and Psychological Health

Table 3 shows the correlation coefficients between the HHS, the WAI and the GHQ at the 3 data collection times. Hypothesis 4, that the hope scores will be positively

correlated with the working alliance scores received only partial support. Hope was only significantly correlated with the working alliance at the session 5 measures. At session 1 and termination, hope and the alliance were not significantly related.

Table 3 also shows that the GHQ, which measures psychological health, was negatively correlated with some of the hope scores. More specifically, the initial measure of psychological health at session 1 was negatively correlated with hope scores at session 1 and 5, but not the termination session. Psychological health at termination was negatively correlated with session 1 and termination hope scores. The negative sign of the correlation coefficients signifies that higher hope was associated with fewer psychological symptoms. The GHQ was not found to be significantly correlated to the working alliance at any of the data collection times.

Table 3

Intercorrelations Between the GHQ, HHS, and WAI at Session 1, Session 5 and Termination

		Session 1		Session 5		Termination			
<del></del>		GHQ	WAI	HHS	WAI	HHS	GHQ	WAI	HHS
	GHQ	<del></del>	.031	507*	.032	502**	.450**	.123	316
Session 1	WAI			.100	.477**	.039	.030	.401*	.089
HHS				.226	.809**	412*	082	.784**	
6 : 6	WAI					.387*	.064	.323	.047
Session 5	HHS						400	148	.811**
	GHQ							062	534**
Termination	WAI								.082
	HHS								

<sup>\*</sup>p<.05. \*\*p<.01.

Hypothesis 5, that the relationship between hope and the alliance would become stronger when the influence of psychological health was removed was explored by calculating the partial correlations between the WAI and the HHS. When the initial GHQ score was partialled out, the correlation between the alliance and hope at session 5 was no longer significant (partial r= .295, p= ns); the same is true when the GHQ at termination was partialled out (partial r=.322, p= ns). None of the partial correlation coefficients between the WAI and the HHS at any of the sessions were significant.

## Self-criticism

Hypothesis 6 and 7 were that self-criticism would be negatively correlated with measures of hope and the working alliance, respectively. Self-criticism was measured by the DEQ prior to beginning session 1. Table 4 shows the correlation between self-criticism and the measures of hope, the alliance and psychological health. While self-criticism was related to both hope and the initial measure of psychological health, it was not significantly related to the working alliance or psychological health at termination. Thus, hypothesis 6, but not 7, was supported. Overall, participants with higher levels of self-criticism reported lower levels of hope at session 1 and session 5. This relationship was quite strong, with over 30% of the variance explained by the relationship, but the relationship was no longer statistically significant by treatment termination. The correlation between self-criticism and the GHQ shows that participants with higher self-criticism also presented to counselling with more psychological symptoms. While the early measures of hope and psychological symptoms were significantly correlated with self-criticism, termination measures were not correlated with self-criticism. Because self-criticism was measured only once, it is unclear what factors contributed to the loss of

significance of the correlations of self-criticism with hope and psychological health by counselling termination.

Table 4

Correlations Between Self-Criticism and the GHQ, WAI, and HHS

Session 1		Session 5		Termination			
GHQ	WAI	HHS	WAI	HHS	GHQ	WAI	HHS
597**	.098	551**	154	561**	.186	.318	140

<sup>\*</sup>p<.05. \*\*p<.01.

To determine whether self-criticism influenced the relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance, partial correlations were calculated controlling for the effect of self-criticism. When this was done, no significant partial correlations were found between hope and the working alliance.

# Summary

The statistical analysis yielded both expected and unexpected results. As expected, both hope and the working alliance increased significantly during counselling. Clients also showed reduced symptoms of psychological distress. Unexpectedly however, the hypothesis that hope and the alliance would be related received only partial support, as it did not hold true throughout counselling. A positive correlation was obtained only between the session 5 measures of hope and the alliance and this correlation was no longer significant once the measure of psychological health was partialled out. Thus, the respective increases in hope and the alliance during counselling were relatively independent of one another. Self-criticism was found to be strongly related to clients' hope in that highly self-critical individuals reported lower levels of hope. Meanwhile,

self-criticism was not correlated with clients' perception of the alliance, contrary to what was hypothesised. The meaning and implications of the above results will be explored in the next chapter.

#### CHAPTER V

### Discussion

The results of the analysis indicate that hope increased significantly during the course of counselling, while the working alliance increased significantly between session 1 and 5. Hope and the working alliance were not significantly correlated with one another, which was an unexpected result. Self-criticism was related to hope but not the alliance. While some of the study findings are consistent with past research, others are not. In this section, the consistencies and inconsistencies of the results with previous research will be examined and the present findings will be integrated with previous research. The implications of the findings for future research and counselling practice will be discussed.

# The Importance of Hope

As hypothesised, hope was found to increase over the course of counselling. The trend was linear; thus, at each data collection point, hope was significantly higher than at the previous measurement time. This finding is important in several ways.

First, while some authors have proposed that hope is an important element in counselling (Edey & Jevne, 2003; Irving et al. 2004; Snyder et al., 1999; Snyder et al., 2000), they have either not measured hope quantitatively, or measured hope as defined by Snyder et al. (1991), which, as previously discussed, is a more narrow conceptualisation as compared to the definition of hope used by other researchers (e.g. Dufault & Martocchio, 1985; Farran et al., 1995). The present research measured hope with the Herth Hope Scale (Herth, 1991), which measures hope in a way that covers the

definitions of both Dufault and Martocchio (1985) and Farran et al. (1995); thus, both specific and global aspects of hope were captured by the measurement. While in the past it has been shown that Snyder's conceptualisation of hope contributes to counselling outcome (Irving et al., 2004) and increases during counselling (Kraatz, 2003), the present research indicates that hope can be shown to increase when other aspects of hope are measured, such as its temporal, affiliative and affective dimensions. In other words, in addition to the cognitive aspects of hope that have been found to increase during counselling, the present research suggests that hope across time, within relationships, and as an emotion also increase.

The finding that global, non-specific hope increases during counselling as well as more specific aspects of hope is important because previous research has not yet shown this. The implication is that participating in counselling is related to an increase in an individual's overall hopeful outlook, not just their hope as related to personal goals or the issues for which counselling was sought. Thus, counselling may have a more global effect that is not necessarily specific to the expectations the client brought to counselling. That hope was found to increase throughout counselling indicates that it is important during the entire counselling process. It is possible that the increase in the global aspect of hope partially accounts for the long-term effectiveness of psychotherapy.

In the present study, the hope scores of those participants who did not complete the study were not significantly different from the scores of those participants who did complete the study, even though hope was found to increase significantly at each measurement time. This indicates that hope is not likely responsible for issues of premature termination. This also suggests that hope increases for all counselling clients,

not just those who remain in treatment for longer periods of time; thus, an increase in hope likely occurs in both brief psychotherapies and longer forms of therapy.

Similar to the study of Irving et al. (2004), the present findings indicated that hope was related to psychological health. More specifically, those participants who reported fewer psychological symptoms also reported higher levels of hope. This finding is correlational, thus a cause and effect relationship cannot be posited; however, it suggests that increasing hope can be considered an important treatment goal for counselling due to its relationship to increased psychological health and fewer symptoms. The finding also indicates that an increase in hope may be an indication of effective treatment. Therefore, measuring hope both during counselling and as an outcome measure may shed light on the effectiveness of therapy. Overall, this study has shown that hope is an inherently important aspect of counselling even when more global aspects of it are measured. It has also shown that despite concerns that the diverse understandings of hope may make it difficult to measure (Eliott & Olver, 2002), it is still possible to study the effects of hope in a quantitative manner.

The importance of hope in counselling as measured here provides further support for the view that hope is a factor that is common to all types of counselling (Snyder et al., 1999) for two reasons. First, the finding that hope is important to counselling was replicated and hope is therefore beginning to show itself as important across a number of studies (e.g. Edey & Jevne, 2003; Irving et al., 2004; Kraatz, 2003). Second, while therapists in the present study did not report their theoretical orientation, it should be noted that the students study within a program in which openness toward all theoretical orientations, including eclecticism, is practiced, and the university department does not

subscribe to a specific orientation; thus, it is likely that the student therapists identify with a number of orientations.

Hope has been found to be related to better overall well-being and fewer psychological symptoms (Irving et al., 2004). This relationship held true in the present study, particularly for sessions 1 and 5. This supports the notion of Snyder et al. (2000) that hope can serve as a protective factor. Whether hope is protective due to changes in behaviour and goal attainment, as claimed by Snyder et al. (2000) cannot be assessed with the present results. However, the importance of hope to psychological well-being is suggested by the present results.

Although, it has not been determined by this research how both global and specific aspects of hope increase with counselling, previous research may shed light on this issue. Both Nunn (2005) and Averill and Sundararajan (2005) contend that hope exists only within uncertainty. If an event or goal is either completely improbable or absolutely certain, hope will not be present (Averill & Sundararajan, 2005). Similarly, Nunn (2005) proposes that hope can change as a result of a change in beliefs, desires or judgements; such changes often occur during counselling. It is possible that by changing maladaptive cognitions, such as those that are absolutist or inaccurate, therapy opens a space for uncertainty, and therefore, hope.

### The Working Alliance

The working alliance was found to increase from session 1 to session 5, but it remained stable from session 5 to the termination session. This finding was not surprising given that previous research has suggested that once the alliance is established, the client's perspective of it remains stable (Kivlighan & Shaugnessy, 1995; Martin et al.,

2000). Although, the presence of a ceiling effect may also explain why the working alliance was not found to increase after session 5, previous research gives greater strength to the argument that clients tend to report a stable alliance during treatment. The working alliance was also found to be linear without fluctuations, similar to the findings of Kivlighan and Shaughnessy (1995) and Martin et al. (2000), even though other authors have reported that the working alliance fluctuates during counselling (Gelso & Carter, 1994; Horvath & Greenberg, 1994). Possible reasons that the results of this study support a stable view of the alliance are that the alliance was measured from the client's point of view and the working alliance was measured three times during the study, as opposed to after every session. The linear view of the alliance found in the present study supports the contention that it is important for the alliance to be established early on in therapy (Horvath & Greenberg, 1994) because the client's view of the alliance may not change after the initial stage of therapy when the alliance is established.

While previous studies suggest that the therapeutic alliance predicts symptom improvement in depression (Barber et al., 2000; Blatt et al., 1996) and that healthier clients are able to develop a stronger therapeutic alliance (Luborsky, 1994) the results of the present study are not consistent with these previous reports. At no time during the study was the GHQ found to be significantly correlated with the WAI. However, this finding is consistent with that of Kokotovic and Tracey (1990), who also reported that a client's presenting concerns were unrelated to the strength of the alliance. It may be related to the suggestion of Kokotovic and Tracey that when a therapist perceives a weak alliance, he or she may take steps to resolve the issues contributing to the poor alliance. Thus, if the alliance is successfully strengthened, the negative effects of a weak alliance

may be countered. For this reason, it is possible that the alliance may sometimes be found to be unrelated to certain psychological symptoms. On the other hand, if the relationship between the alliance and psychological symptoms is mediated by other variables or is weak, more research participants or a more homogenous population than in the present study would be required in order to detect the relationship.

Unlike the report of Samstag et al. (1998), the working alliance was found to be unrelated to whether or not the participants completed the study. Study completion was not found to be associated with any of the demographic or study variables, including the alliance and hope, which may be reflective of a number of things. First, it may simply be that study completion was not related to these variables in this population. Second, the opposing results of Samstag et al. as compared to the results obtained here may be due to the naturalistic, unscreened sample used in the present study. In other words, selection criteria were not used for the present study, whereas several criteria were employed by Samstag et al, which may have led to differing results. Conversely, it may be that because information was not collected on whether counselling termination was a mutual decision between therapist and client due to attainment of treatment goals or whether the client terminated prematurely, the results were confounded by the type of termination.

Clarification of type of termination may have led to different results. The study method relied on the clinicians to ensure the data collection was executed; thus, although some data may be missing due to clients dropping out from counselling, other data may be missing due to therapists not ensuring that the clients completed the self-report measures at the appropriate times, which may have also confounded the analyses related to the termination measures. In essence, it is unknown how many of the study non-

completers also dropped out of counselling and how many simply did not complete data collection, while continuing in counselling. As well, it is unknown whether ruptures in the alliance were dealt with in a fashion that led to its improvement and/or treatment continuation (Kokotovic & Tracey, 1990), thereby confounding the data and making it difficult to measure whether the working alliance was associated with completion of counselling. At the same time, because previous research (Kokotovic & Tracey, 1990) found that the working alliance was not related to whether a client stayed in counselling, another variable that was not measured may mediate the relationship between the working alliance and treatment termination. Overall, because many of the reasons for study incompletion are unknown, it is difficult to integrate with previous research findings the result that the working alliance was unrelated to study incompletion.

### Symptom Improvement

Although it was found that psychological health, as measured by the GHQ, improved, psychological symptoms did not completely disappear. This is consistent with outcome research (Westen & Morrison, 2001) in which participants were found to have reduced symptoms, but continued experiencing symptoms, nonetheless. Westen and Morrison reported that studies using homogenous populations have better treatment outcomes. Because participants in the present study came from a naturalistic population and were not screened prior to participating, it is not surprising that they were not symptom-free upon termination of counselling. In addition, although the present study did not impose a treatment length, with ten sessions being the average treatment length, counselling was relatively brief. It is possible that longer treatment or a homogenous study sample may have resulted in a different pattern of symptom reduction.

# The Relationship Between Hope and the Alliance

While hope has been suggested to be present within relationships (Dufault & Martocchio, 1985; Farran et al., 1995; Campling, 2002) and to be within the therapeutic relationship (Helm, 2004) the findings of the present study indicate that although both are within counselling, they are not dependent on one another. As in Kraatz (2003), the therapeutic alliance was found to be uncorrelated with hope even though the mean number of sessions of participants was higher than the six sessions included by Kraatz. At the same time however, both hope and the alliance were found to increase during counselling. This finding suggests that while hope and the alliance are not correlated, both are important to the counselling process. That is, while hope and the alliance co-exist, they are not actually associated. This implies that even though hope may occur within a relationship (Campling, 2002; Dufault & Martocchio, 1985; Farran et al., 1995) the strength of the relationship does not necessarily influence the level of hope that exists. This is consistent with Bustamante (2001) who suggests that hope provides a direction for the alliance; thus, hope may be part of the alliance or co-exist with the alliance, but does not actually influence change within the alliance.

Although, it is possible that a relationship between hope and the alliance was not found due to ceiling effects on the WAI that led to a lack of variation in the scores, the results are consistent with those of Kraatz (2003) who also did not find a correlation between hope and the working alliance. Therefore, it is most likely that the results indicate that hope and the alliance co-exist independently of one another and make separate contributions to the counselling process.

### Self-Criticism

The finding that self-criticism was negatively related to hope is consistent with previous research that found hopelessness to be positively related to self-criticism (Riley & McCranie, 1990). The present study found that individuals with higher levels of self-criticism had lower levels of hope at session 1 and session 5. Upon termination, however, the relationship between hope and self-criticism was no longer significant. Because self-criticism was measured only at the beginning of counselling, it is unknown whether self-criticism improved during counselling. The reasons for the loss of a significant association between hope and self-criticism at termination are unclear, but several possibilities exist. For example, it may be due to hope improving while self-criticism remained stable after session 5. Or, the loss of significance may reflect fewer participants upon termination. Because the analysis indicated that those participants who completed the study did not differ significantly on self-criticism than those who did not, it is known that the loss of significance was not due to the remaining participants having different initial levels of self-criticism.

The strong negative relationship between hope and self-criticism is consequential since hope has been found to increase during counselling both here and in other studies (e.g. Irving et al., 2004; Kraatz, 2003), and self-criticism and the related concept of perfectionism have been observed to be a barrier to successful treatment (Blatt et al., 1995; Rector et al., 2000). Hope may be a key factor to helping self-critical individuals benefit from counselling, while the importance of reducing self-criticism is also implied. Self-criticism as a moderater to other counselling process variables should be further explored.

The finding that the working alliance was not correlated with self-criticism contradicts the study of Zuroff et al. (2000). Because self-criticism has been found to be an impediment to counselling success, the relationship between self-criticism and the alliance is an important one to explore. It is possible that the relationship between perfectionism and the working alliance reported by Zuroff et al. is true only for depressed clients, or specific to perfectionism and not self-criticism. The present study did not screen participants; therefore, a wide range of presenting issues is represented, which may have reduced the significance of a relationship between self-criticism and the alliance. It remains to be determined whether the results of Zuroff et al. apply only to a depressed population, only to perfectionism and not the related concept of self-criticism, or whether the results of the present study are truly anomalous.

Reducing self-criticism has been found to improve treatment outcome (Rector et al., 2000), which may explain the significant correlation between self-criticism and psychological health in session 1, and the non-significant correlation between self-criticism and the GHQ by termination. Because self-criticism was only measured once in the present study, a reduction in self-criticism cannot be assessed. However, because the initial measure of self-criticism was not related to later measures of psychological health it does appear that lessening the influence of self-criticism is important to psychological health and the process of counselling.

## Implications for Counselling Practice

As pointed out by Herth (2005), the way in which hope is conceptualized affects clinical practice. The same is likely true of counselling practice. Because this study has shown that hope continually increases throughout counselling, even when the measure

used included items of both specific and general aspects of hope, the findings imply that hope increases over and above that related to specific life and counselling goals. Thus, hope increases in terms of relationships, seeing one's personal patterns of hope across time, and other aspects that may not be related to the issues for which the client originally sought counselling. This supports the notion of addressing a client's hope during counselling and regarding an increase in hope as a sign that counselling is progressing.

That hope and the alliance were not found to be correlated in counselling has important implications for practitioners. Both were found to be important yet distinct elements of counselling, which suggests that while they may both be imperative to successful progression of treatment, an increase in one does not indicate a change in the other. For example, although a client's hope may be high, this does not mean the alliance is adequately strong enough to produce a positive therapeutic outcome; therefore, the therapist would still need to monitor and work on developing a strong alliance to increase the likelihood of successful treatment. Conversely, with another client, although the therapeutic alliance may be strong, the client's hope would not be reflected by their reports of the alliance and their hope may still be low, which could affect the counselling process or treatment outcome. The present study found that the client's reported hope was related to psychological health, which suggests that the alliance alone does not ensure a positive therapeutic outcome or symptom reduction. Ultimately, counsellors and psychotherapists should consider hope and the alliance to be two important but separate elements of counselling that each need to be monitored and addressed, with the goal of each increasing during the course of therapy, and with the understanding that a change in both of these elements may be necessary for positive change to occur.

The strong relationship between hope and self-criticism also has important implications for counselling practitioners. Initial self-criticism correlated strongly with session 1 and session 5 measures of hope. At termination, the clients' self-criticism was no longer associated with their hope. Although, self-criticism was not measured at termination and it cannot be determined whether it improved during counselling, it can be understood that by counselling termination the initial level of self-criticism lost its potency in relation to hope. Because of the negative relationship between self-criticism and hope, it is hypothesised that self-criticism may need to improve in order that hope may improve and to maximize the benefits of hope. While past research has found the effect of the alliance to be important enough to monitor and target the alliance during counselling, the present research indicates the same is true of hope and self-criticism.

### Implications for Future Research and Study Limitations

Several elements of the study led to limitations in the results of the study due to the consequential lack of information. While the main limitation was the study dropout rate, other elements, such as the small number of measurement times for the alliance, have simply resulted in certain lines of query being unanswered. Suggestions will be made for future research to address the study limitations and questions left unanswered by the present study, in order that a greater understanding of hope in counselling can be achieved.

While the dropout rate of the study did not appear to compromise the internal validity of the study, as the study completers did not differ on the measured variables from those participants who did not complete study, the dropout rate did affect the choice of statistical analyses. In effect, the contribution of hope and the alliance to therapeutic

outcome could not be analysed through regression analysis because the final number of participants who completed all three phases of the study was too small. Future research might address this issue, by studying the effect of hope to counselling outcome with a larger number of participants. Also, not collecting information on the reason for treatment termination led to difficulty in integrating some research results with past findings, particularly those related to the working alliance. Other researchers are encouraged to collect information on termination to gain a greater understanding of counselling variables.

While hope and the alliance were not found to be related, an existing relationship could be confirmed or denied by conducting a study with more participants and measuring hope and the alliance several times throughout the study. An increase in the number of research participants would increase the power of the study and the ability of the analyses to detect a relationship, if one does exist. In contrast, if a relationship were still not detectable when more participants completed similar measures, this would support the present study in suggesting that a relationship between hope and the working alliance really does not exist. In this case, determining the contribution that each make to outcome would give further insight into the elements of a successful counselling experience.

Measuring both hope and the alliance several times during a study, rather than just three times as was done here, would shed light on the fluctuations of both during counselling, and a more detailed examination of hope and the alliance could be conducted. It is possible that a more thorough understanding of the relationship may be

attained if the changes in hope and the alliance during counselling are explored in greater detail.

Though hope was found to increase significantly throughout the study, the nature of the study, being non-experimental, does not allow for causal inferences. Thus, while it was found that hope increased among counselling clients, it cannot be determined whether this increase in hope was actually due to counselling. Thus, it is still unknown whether counselling leads to an increase over and above that which may occur with the passing of time. Future research could address this issue by comparing the hope of counselling clients to a wait-list control group or to individuals who are not planning on taking part in counselling.

While the study results indicate that hope increased significantly during counselling, hope-focussed counselling has also been proposed as a particularly effective form of counselling because of its explicit focus on hope (Jevne, 1993; Edey & Jevne, 2003). What remains to be studied is whether hope-focussed counselling produces increases in hope similar to or greater than the increases in hope seen in other types of counselling, such as in the present study. Although, the study results support the importance of hope in counselling, it is unknown whether the effect of hope would be improved if hope were explicitly discussed as part of counselling.

Future exploration of the relationship between hope and self-criticism is also warranted. While hope does not appear to have been studied in relation to self-criticism, the study results show a strong negative relationship between these two client variables. While self-criticism has been found to have a mediating effect on counselling outcome (Zuroff et al., 2000), it is possible that its relationship to outcome is based on its

relationship with client variables such as hope or the therapeutic alliance. Clarification of the impact of self-criticism on important counselling variables may help practitioners to increase treatment success for self-critical clients.

Self-criticism was not found to be significantly related to the working alliance, which is a surprise finding, given previous research (Zuroff et al., 2000). The relationship between self-criticism and the alliance should be further explored, in order that the present anomalous finding be understood. It is possible that there were not enough research participants in the present study to replicate the relationship, but it is also possible that the previous findings are not generalizable beyond seriously depressed individuals. Participants in this study were not chosen based on their presenting issues and participants presented for counselling for a wide variety of reasons; therefore, it is possible that the effect of self-criticism on the therapeutic alliance as reported by Zuroff et al. is closely related to client depression. Future research should address whether the relationship between the therapeutic alliance and self-criticism is present only when depressed clients are studied, or whether this relationship is present for clients with other problems, too.

#### Conclusion

In summary, the described research was an exploration of hope and its relationship to the therapeutic alliance and self-criticism, all of which are elements common to all types of therapy. Participants were 67 adult clients at a university clinic seeking individual counselling.

While previous research and theory indicated that a relationship between hope and the therapeutic alliance is likely, a correlational analysis did not support this notion.

Thus, it appears that while both the alliance and hope increase during counselling, they may function relatively independent of one another. Future research could address how much of the therapeutic outcome is explained by these variables.

Self-criticism was found to be negatively correlated with hope, which supports the proposition that it mediates counselling outcome (Zuroff et al., 2000). The present study found that while hope continually increased, it was negatively correlated with self-criticism. This suggests that self-criticism has a negative impact on hope and that therapeutic interventions that address self-criticism are important to achieve a positive therapeutic outcome. The working alliance, in contrast, was found to be unrelated to self-criticism, which was an unexpected finding that contradicted previous research.

Self-criticism and hope were related to client reports of psychological health, which again suggests the importance of reducing self-criticism and increasing hope during counselling. The study did not allow for an exploration of which elements of counselling could effectively reduce self-criticism and increase hope, but future research could address this issue.

The study has important implications for counselling practice and future research.

One of the implications for counselling practice is that hope may be an important indicator of counselling progress. Furthermore, the presence of a strong alliance alone does not give all of the information on counselling progression. The present research has led to many suggestions for future research to continue the exploration of the importance of hope in counselling.

Overall, the findings of this research are significant, as they support the notion that hope is an important factor in the counselling process. The importance of hope is

separate from the importance of the alliance, and likely explains some of the variance in counselling outcome and process that is not explained by the alliance. The relationship of self-criticism to hope and to psychological symptoms also adds to the view that the reduction of self-criticism is important in order to increase the success of counselling.

#### References

- Ahn, H. & Wampold, B.E. (2001). Where oh where are the specific ingredients? A metaanalysis of component studies in counseling and psychotherapy. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 48, 251-257.
- Averill, J.R. & Sundararajan, L. (2005). Hope as rhetoric: Cultural narratives of wishing and coping. In J.A. Eliott (Ed.), *Interdisciplinary perspectives on hope* (pp.133-165). New York: Nova Science Publishers, Inc.
- Babits, M. (2001). The phoenix juncture: Exploring the dimension of hope in psychotherapy. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 29, 341-350.
- Barber, J.P., Connolly, M.B., Crits-Christoph, P., Gladis, L., & Siqueland, L. (2000).

  Alliance predicts patients' outcome beyond in-treatment change in symptoms.

  Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology, 68, 1027-1032.
- Barker, S.L., Funk, S.C. & Houston, B.K. (1988). Psychological treatment versus nonspecific factors: A meta-analysis of conditions that engender comparable expectations for improvement. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 8, 579-594.
- Bergner, R.M. (1995). Pathological self-criticism: Assessment and treatment. New York: Plenum Press.
- Beutler, L.E. & Harwood, T.M. (2002). What is and can be attributed to the therapeutic relationship? *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, 32, 25-33.
- Blatt, S.J. (2004). Experiences of depression: Theoretical, clinical, and research perspectives. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Blatt, S.J., D'Afflitti, J.P. & Quinlan, D.M. (1976). Experiences of depression in normal young adults. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 85, 383-389.

- Blatt, S.J., Quinlan, D.M., Pilkonis, P.A. & Shea, M.T. (1995). Impact of perfectionism and need for approval on the brief treatment of depression: The National Institute of Mental Health Treatment of Depression Collaborative Research Program revisited.

  \*\*Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology, 63, 125-132.\*\*
- Blatt, S.J., Zuroff, D.C., Quinlan, D.M. & Pilkonis, P.A. (1996). Interpersonal factors in brief treatment of depression: Further analyses of the National Institute of Mental Health Treatment of Depression Collaborative Research Program. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 64, 162-171.
- Bordin, E.S. (1979). The generalizability of the psychoanalytic concept of the working alliance. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 16, 252-260.
- Bordin, E.S. (1994). Theory and research on the therapeutic working alliance: New directions. In A.O. Horvath & L.S. Greenberg (Eds.), *The working alliance: Theory, research and practice (pp. 13-37)*. New York: Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Brown, J.D. & Silberschatz, G. (1989). Dependency, self-criticism and depressive attributional style. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 98, 187-188.
- Busseri, M.A. & Tyler, J.D. (2003). Interchangeability of the Working Alliance Inventory and Working Alliance Inventory, Short Form. *Psychological Assessment*, 15, 193-197.
- Bustamante, J.J. (2001). Understanding hope. Persons in the process of dying.

  International Forum of Psychoanalysis, 10(1), 49-55.
- Campling, P. (2002). Connection and catastrophe, hope and despair in our borderline world. *British Journal of Psychotherapy*, 19, 235-245.

- Clum, G.A., Clum, G.A., & Surls, R. (1993). A meta-analysis of treatments for panic disorder. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 61, 317-326.
- Cramer, D. (1993). Therapeutic relationship and outcome seen by clients in first and third session of individual therapy. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, 6, 13-15.
- Dufault, K. & Martocchio, B.C. (1985). Hope: Its spheres and dimensions. *Nursing Clinics of North America*, 20, 379-391.
- Dunkley, D.M., Zuroff, D.C. & Blankstein, K.R. (2003). Self-critical perfectionism and daily affect: Dispositional and situational influences on stress and coping. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84, 234-252.
- Edey, W. & Jevne, R.F. (2003). Hope, illness and counselling practice: Making hope visible. *Canadian Journal of Counselling*, 37(1), 44-51.
- Eliott, J. & Olver, I. (2002). The discursive properties of "Hope": A qualitative analysis of cancer patients' speech. *Qualitative Health Research*, 12, 173-193.
- Farran, C.J., Herth, K.A. & Popovich, J.M. (1995). *Hope and hopelessness: Critical clinical constructs*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Gelso, C.J. & Carter, J.A. (1994). Components of the psychotherapy relationship: Their interaction and unfolding during treatment. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 41, 296-306.
- Gershefski, J.J., Arnkoff, D.B., Glass, C.R. & Elkin, I. (1996). Clients' perceptions of treatment for depression: I. helpful aspects. *Psychotherapy Research*, 6, 233-247.
- Goldberg, D.P. & Hillier, V.F. (1979). A scaled version of the General Health Questionnaire. *Psychological Medicine*, *9*, 139-145.

- Gottschalk, L.A., Fronczek, J. & Buschbaum, M.S. (1993). The cerebral neurobiology of hope and hopelessness. *Psychiatry*, *56*, 270-281.
- Helm, F.L. (2004). Hope is curative. Psychoanalytic Psychology, 21, 554-566.
- Herth, K. (1991). Development and refinement of an instrument to measure hope. Scholarly Inquiry for Nursing Practice: An International Journal, 5, 39-51.
- Herth, K. (2005). State of the science of hope in nursing practice: Hope, the nurse, and the patient. In J.A. Eliott (Ed.), *Interdisciplinary perspectives on hope* (pp.169-211). New York: Nova Science Publishers, Inc.
- Horvath, A.O. (1994). Empirical validation of Bordin's pantheoretical model of the alliance: The Working Alliance Inventory perspective. In A.O. Horvath & L.S. Greenberg (Eds.), *The working alliance: Theory, research and practice (pp. 109-128)*. New York: Wiley & Sons.
- Horvath, A.O. (2000). The therapeutic relationship: From transference to alliance. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 56, 163-173.
- Horvath, A.O. & Greenburg, L. S. (1989). Development and validation of the Working Alliance Inventory. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 36, 223–233.
- Horvath, A.O. & Greenberg, L.S. (Eds.). (1994). The working alliance: Theory, research and practice. New York: Wiley & Sons.
- Horvath, A.O. & Symonds, B.D. (1991). Relation between working alliance and outcome in psychotherapy: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 38, 139-149.
- Howard, K.I., Kopta, S.M., Krause, M.S. & Orlinsky, D.E. (1986). The dose-effect relationship in psychotherapy. *American Psychologist*, 41, 159-164.

- Irving, L.M., Snyder, C.R., Cheavens, J., Gravel, L., Hanke, J., Hilberg, P., & Nelson, N. (2004). The relationships between hope and outcomes at the pretreatment, beginning, and later phases of psychotherapy. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*, 14, 419-443.
- Jackson, R., Wernicke, R. & Haaga, D.A.F. (2003). Hope as a predictor of entering substance abuse treatment. *Addictive Behaviors*, 28, 13-28.
- Jevne, R.F. (1993). Enhancing hope in the chronically ill. *Humane Medicine*, 9(2), 121-130.
- Jevne, R.F. (2005). Hope: The simplicity and the complexity. In J.A. Eliott (Ed.),

  Interdisciplinary perspectives on hope (pp. 259-289). New York: Nova Science
  Publishers, Inc.
- Kivlighan, D.M. & Shaughnessy, P. (1995). Analysis of the development of the working alliance using hierarchical linear modeling. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 42, 338-349.
- Kokotovic, A.M. & Tracey, T.J. (1987). Premature termination at a university counseling center. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 34, 80-82.
- Kokotovic, A.M. & Tracey, T.J. (1990). Working alliance in the early phase of counseling. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 37, 16-21.
- Kraatz, R.A. (2003). Clients' perception of therapeutic alliance as a predictor of hope and decreased negative affect and symptoms. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri, Kansas City.

- Lambert, M.J. (1992). Implications of outcome research for psychotherapy integration. In J.C Norcross & M.R. Goldfried (Eds.), *Handbook of psychotherapy integration* (pp.94-129). New York: Basic Books.
- Lambert, M.J. (2001). The status of empirically supported therapies: Comment on Westen and Morrison's (2001) multidimensional meta-analysis. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 69, 910-913.
- Lambert, M.J., Garfield, S.L., Bergin, A.E. (2004). Overview, trends and future issues. In M.J. Lambert (Ed.) *Handbook of Psychotherapy and Behavior Change*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Luborsky, L. (1994). Therapeutic alliances as predictors of psychotherapy outcomes:

  Factors explaining the predictive success. In A.O. Horvath & L.S. Greenberg (Eds.),

  The working alliance: Theory, research and practice (pp. 38-50). New York: Wiley & Sons.
- Luborsky, L., Rosenthal, R., Diguer, L., Andrusyna, T.P., Levitt, J.T., Seligman, D.A., Berman, J.S. & Krause, E.D. (2003). Are some psychotherapies much more effective than others? *Journal of Applied Psychoanalytic Studies*, *5*, 455-460.
- Martin, D.J., Garske, J.P. & Davis, M.K. (2000). Relation of the therapeutic alliance with outcome and other variables: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68, 438-450.
- McCabe, R & Priebe, S. (2003) Are therapeutic relationships in psychiatry explained by patients' symptoms? Factors influencing patient ratings. *European Psychiatry*, 18, 220-225.

- Menninger, K. (1959). Hope: The academic lecture. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 116, 481-491.
- Meyer, B., Pilkonis, P.A., Krupnick, J.L., Egan, M.K., Simmens, S.J., & Sotsky, S.M.
  (2002) Treatment expectancies, patient alliance and outcome: Further analyses from the National Institute of Mental Health Treatment of Depression Collaborative
  Research Program. Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology, 70, 1051-1055.
- Mongrain, M. & Zuroff, D.C. (1995). Motivational and affective correlates of dependency and self-criticism. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 18, 347-354.
- Nietzel, M.T., Russell, R.L., Hemmings, K.A., & Gretter, M.L. (1987). Clinical significance of psychotherapy for unipolar depression: A meta-analytic approach to social comparison. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 55, 156-161.
- Nunn, B.V. (2005). Getting clear what hope is. In J.A. Eliott (Ed.), *Interdisciplinary* perspectives on hope (pp.63-77). New York: Nova Science Publishers, Inc.
- Nunn, K.P. (1996). Personal hopefulness: A conceptual review of the relevance of the perceived future to psychiatry. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 69, 227-245.
- O'Hara, J.L. (2001). Hope in the doctor-patient relationship. *The Canadian Journal of Continuing Medical Education*, 137-148.
- Powers, T.A. & Zuroff, D.C. (1988). Interpersonal consequences of overt self-criticism:

  A comparison with neutral and self-enhancing presentations of self. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54, 1054-1062.
- Rector, N.A., Bagby, R.M., Segal, Z.V., Joffe, R.T. & Levitt, A. (2000). Self-criticism and dependency in depressed patients treated with cognitive therapy or pharmacotherapy. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 24, 571-584.

- Riley, W.T. & McCranie, E.W. (1990). The Depressive Experiences Questionnaire:

  Validity and psychological correlates in a clinical sample. *Journal of Personality*Assessment, 54, 523-533.
- Rogers, C.R. (1940). The processes of therapy. *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 4, 161-164.
- Rogers, C.R. (1957). The necessary and sufficient conditions of therapeutic personality change. *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 21, 95-103.
- Samstag, L.W., Batchelder, S.T., Muran, J.C., Safran, J.D. & Winston, A. (1998). Early identification of treatment failures in short-term psychotherapy: An assessment of therapeutic alliance and interpersonal behavior. *Journal of Psychotherapy Practice and Research*, 7, 126-143.
- Sexton, T.L. & Whiston, S.C. (1991). A review of the empirical basis for counseling:

  Implications for practice and training. *Counselor Education & Supervision*, 30, 330-354.
- Shadish, W.R., Matt, G.E., Navarro, A.M., Siegle, G., Crits-Christoph, P., Hazelrigg, M.D., et al. (1997). Evidence that therapy works in clinically representative conditions. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 65, 355-365.
- Snyder, C.R. (1995). Conceptualizing, measuring and nurturing hope. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 73, 355-360.
- Snyder, C.R., Feldman, D.B., Taylor, J.D., Schroeder, L.L. & Adams III, V.H. (2000).

  The roles of hopeful thinking in preventing problems and enhancing strengths.

  Applied & Preventive Psychology, 9, 249-270.

- Snyder, C.R., Harris, C., Anderson, J.R., Holleran, S.A., Irving, L.M., Sigmon, S.T., Yoshinobu, L., Gibb, J., Langelle, C. & Harney, P. (1991). The will and the ways: Development and validation of an individual-differences measure of hope. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 60, 570-585.
- Snyder, C.R., Michael, S.T. & Cheavens, J.S. (1999). Hope as a psychotherapeutic foundation of common factors, placebos and expectancies. In M.A. Hubble, B.L. Duncan & S.D. Miller (Eds.), *The heart and soul of change: What works in therapy.* (pp. 179-200). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Snyder, C.R., Parenteau, S.C., Shorey, H.S., Kahle, K.E. & Berg, C. (2002). Hope as the underlying process in the psychotherapeutic change process. *International Gestalt Journal*, 25(2), 11-29.
- Tracey, T.J. & Kokotovic, A.M. (1989). Factor structure of the Working Alliance Inventory. *Psychological Assessment*, *I*, 207-210.
- Udelman, D.L. & Udelman, H.D. (1991). Affects, neurotransmitters, and immunocompetence. *Stress Medicine*, 7, 159-162.
- Viglione, D.J., Clemmey, P.A. & Camenzuli, L. (1990). The Depressive Experiences

  Questionnaire: A critical review. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 55, 52-64.
- Werneke, U., Goldberg, D.P., Yalcin, I. & Ustun, B.T. (2000). The stability of the factor structure of the General Health Questionnaire. *Psychological Medicine*, 30, 823-829.
- Westen, D. & Morrison, K. (2001). A multidimensional meta-analysis of treatments for depression, panic, and generalized anxiety disorder: An empirical examination of the status of empirically supported therapies. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 69, 875-899.

- Zuroff, D.C. (1994). Depressive personality styles and the five-factor model of personality. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 63, 453-472.
- Zuroff, D.C., Blatt, S.J., Sotsky, S.M., Krupnick, J.L., Martin, D.J., Sanislow, C.A., et al. (2000). Relation of therapeutic alliance and perfectionism to outcome in brief outpatient treatment of depression. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68, 114-124.
- Zuroff, D.C., Moskowitz, D.S., Wielgus, M.S., Powers, T.A. & Franko, D.L. (1983).
  Construct validation of the dependency and self-criticism scales of the Depressive
  Experiences Questionnaire. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 17, 226-241.